# Streptococcus agalactiae CAMP factor: Functional Roles of N- and C-terminal Domains & Target Membrane Effect on Toxin Activity

by

Eric K. Brefo-Mensah

A thesis

presented to the University of Waterloo

in fulfillment of the

thesis requirement for the degree of

Master of Science

in

Chemistry

Waterloo, Ontario, Canada, 2018

©Eric K. Brefo-Mensah 2018

# **Author's Declaration**

I hereby declare that I am the sole author of this thesis. This is a true copy of the thesis, including any required final revisions, as accepted by my examiners. I understand that my thesis may be made electronically available to the public.

# Abstract

CAMP factor is a well-known pore-forming toxin secreted by *Streptococcus agalactiae* that forms discrete pores on susceptible membranes whether natural or artificial.

This work reports haemolysis and liposome permeabilization experiments with intact CAMP factor and with fragments representing its N- and C-terminal domains, as well as fluorescence experiments using an NBD-labelled cysteine mutant. The collective findings indicate that the N-terminal domain of CAMP factor is responsible for membrane permeabilization while the C-terminal accounts for membrane binding and likely participates in oligomerization.

Based on previous work, which suggested that varying target membrane lipid composition affects CAMP factor activity and evidence pointing to a cholesterol requirement, further studies were conducted on the requirement of specific lipids for CAMP factor activity, as well as varying lipid chain length and degree of saturation on liposomes with and without cholesterol. The results show that cholesterol is not required for membrane permeabilization. Additionally, no clear difference is observed when chain length or degree of saturation is varied as it concerns dimyristoyl and palmitoyl/oleoyl lipids; however, dioleoyl lipids seems to limit CAMP factor pore formation in the presence of cholesterol. An explanation for this result is proposed.

# Acknowledgements

First and foremost, in accordance with my faith and hope in Jesus Christ of Nazareth, I would like to give thanks to God Almighty for giving me the strength, the perseverance, the ability, and the opportunity to undertake this research project as well as bring it to a successful end (1 Thessalonians 5:18).

I would also like to extend my thanks to my supervisor, Dr. Michael Palmer for all his help, counsel, critical analysis, and troubleshooting throughout all these years of research. I am grateful.

I would like to thank my committee members: Professors Elizabeth Meiering, Thorsten Dieckmann, J. Guy Guillemette, and A. Rod Merrill (University of Guelph) for their patience, persistence, and their helpful suggestions to my research.

I would like to give a special thank you to Dr. Shenhui Lang for her pioneering work on CAMP factor and the doors of research it opened for myself and several others. I would like to extend a special thank you to Dr. Tengchuan Jin for all his help. I would also like to thank members of the Palmer laboratory, past and present, including: Dr. Waseem R. El-Huneidi, Dr. Lisa A. Pokarajac, Dr. David A. Donkor, Dr. Jawad K. Muraih, Dr. Mohamed S. Abdel Rahman, Dr. TianHua Zhang, Dr. Kathy Tang, Dr. Ana Vakiloroayaei, Dr. Robert M. Taylor, Shanshan Liu, Bradley Scott, David Beriashvili, Yalina Trizant Martinez, Clara Baik, Minyoung Park, Stephanie Uwumarenogie, Morgane, Celine Desert, and Jesse Mathis.

Furthermore, I would like to thank those who contributed to my work and progress during my time here at Waterloo: Dr. John Honek, Dr. Betsy Daub, Dr. Dara Gilbert, Dr. Steven P. Forsey, Dr. Christine Dupont, Dr. Laura Marrone, Dr. Erasmus Cudjoe, Dr. Yaw Boakye Agyeman, Dr. Mehdi Rahimi, Dr. J. Michael Piazza, Ryan Amos, Hawa Gyamfi, and Iman Mehdizadeh Gohari

(University of Guelph). I would also like to thank Catherine Van Esch, Janice Campbell, Kathy Jackson, Julie Shikaze, and Marguerite Greavette.

I would also like to thank my family and friends outside of academia for their help and support; these include: Clement & Elizabeth Brakatu and family, Charles & Sarah Anokye-Manu and family, Olusegun & Tiwalola Smart and family, Seth & Rose Boateng and family, and Steve & Beth Fleming and family.

I would also like to thank the friends I made during my time at the University of Waterloo: Musonda Chisanga, Baffour Antwi, Ekow Andoh, Michael Kani, Timi & Mushota Olaatanda, Shirley Ddamba, Ruth Namanya, and Foyo Juma.

# Dedication

This work is dedicated to the Brefo-Mensah family: *Kwabena, Ann, Harriet, Isaac,* and *Michael.* Your unending support made this possible.

# **Table of Contents**

List of Figures				
Li	st of [	<b>Fables</b>		xi
Li	st of A	Abbrevi	ations	xii
1	Intr	oductio	n	1
	1.1	Pore-F	Forming Proteins	1
		1.1.1	Pore-Forming Toxins	2
		1.1.2	$\alpha$ -Pore-Forming Toxins	3
		1.1.3	$\beta$ -Pore-Forming Toxins	5
	1.2	CAMI	P factor: Background	7
		1.2.1	CAMP Reaction Mechanism	8
		1.2.2	Characterization of CAMP factor and its Mode of Action	9
	1.3	The C	AMP factor 3D Structure	11
		1.3.1	Insights from the 3D Structure of CAMP factor	12
			1.3.1.1 The CAMP factor Structure Represents a New Structural Fold	13
			1.3.1.2 CAMP factor Lacks Extended Hydrophobic Sequence Motifs	14
			1.3.1.3 CAMP factor Lacks a Clear Hydrophobic Helical Hairpin	15
	1.4	The R	esearch Project	15

		1.4.1	Research objectives	15	
2	N- a	and C-Terminal Domains of CAMP factor 1'			
	2.1	Introdu	Introduction		
		2.1.1	Site-Specific Labelling of Proteins via Fluorescent Probes	18	
	2.2	Materi	als and Methods	19	
		2.2.1	Protein Expression and Purification	19	
		2.2.2	Haemolysis Assay	20	
		2.2.3	Liposome Permeabilization	21	
		2.2.4	Fluorescent Labelling and Spectrofluorimetry	22	
	2.3	Results	3	24	
		2.3.1	Functional Roles of the Two Domains	24	
		2.3.2	Functional Significance of Conformational Flexibility within the Linker		
			and NTD Regions	28	
	2.4	Discus	sion	30	
		2.4.1	Insights on Function: the N- and C-Terminal Domain	30	
			2.4.1.1 Domain Function is not Immediately Revealed Through Structure	30	
			2.4.1.2 NTD is Responsible for Membrane Permeabilization; CTD is		
			Responsible for more than Membrane Binding	30	
		2.4.2	NTD Requires Internal Conformational Flexibility for Membrane Perme-		
			abilization	31	
		2.4.3	No Evidence of Functionally Crucial Mobility in the Linker Region	32	
3	Effe	cts of Ta	arget Membrane Lipid Composition	33	
	3.1	Introdu	iction	33	
	3.2	Materials and Methods			

		3.2.1	Materials	34
		3.2.2	Methods	35
	3.3	Result	\$	35
		3.3.1	Permeabilization of liposomes containing dimyristoyl lipids	35
		3.3.2	Permeabilization of liposomes containing palmitoyl/oleoyl lipids	36
		3.3.3	Permeabilization of liposomes containing dioleoyl lipids	38
	3.4	Discus	sion	39
4	Sum	imary a	nd Future Work	42
4	<b>Sum</b> 4.1	<b>imary a</b> Summ	nd Future Work ary	<b>42</b> 42
4	<b>Sum</b> 4.1	<b>umary a</b> Summ 4.1.1	nd Future Work         ary         Functional Roles of N- and C-terminal Domains of CAMP factor	<b>42</b> 42 42
4	<b>Sum</b> 4.1	<b>Summ</b> 4.1.1 4.1.2	and Future Work         ary         Functional Roles of N- and C-terminal Domains of CAMP factor         Further Studies on the Functional Roles of CAMP factor Domains	<b>42</b> 42 42 43
4	<b>Sum</b> 4.1	Summ 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3	and Future Work         ary         Functional Roles of N- and C-terminal Domains of CAMP factor         Further Studies on the Functional Roles of CAMP factor Domains         Effect of Target Membrane Composition on CAMP factor Activity	<b>42</b> 42 42 43 44
4	<b>Sum</b> 4.1	Summ 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3 4.1.4	ary	<b>42</b> 42 42 43 44 44

# Bibliography

45

# List of Figures

1.1	Hydrophobic helical hairpins.	4
1.2	Process by which $\beta$ -PFTs typically form pores	6
1.3	Ribbon representation of the $\alpha$ -haemolysin transmembrane pore	7
1.4	Schematic representation of CAMP reaction on sheep red blood cell agar plate	9
1.5	General structure of a GPI-anchored protein in a membrane bilayer	11
1.6	Three-dimensional structure and helix nomenclature of <i>S. agalactiae</i> CAMP factor.	12
1.7	Structural similarity of the C-terminal domain.	13
1.8	Hydrophobic and hydrophilic residue distribution on the CAMP factor protein sur-	
	face	14
2.1	Site-specific labelling of single-cysteine containing protein via BADAN (6-Bromoacet	yl-
2.1	Site-specific labelling of single-cysteine containing protein via BADAN (6-Bromoacet 2-dimethylaminonaphthalene).	<mark>yl-</mark> 19
<ul><li>2.1</li><li>2.2</li></ul>	Site-specific labelling of single-cysteine containing protein via BADAN (6-Bromoacet         2-dimethylaminonaphthalene).         NBD-labelled CAMP factor Mutant on SDS-PAGE.	yl- 19 23
<ul><li>2.1</li><li>2.2</li><li>2.3</li></ul>	Site-specific labelling of single-cysteine containing protein via BADAN (6-Bromoacet         2-dimethylaminonaphthalene).         NBD-labelled CAMP factor Mutant on SDS-PAGE.         Haemolytic Assay of CAMP factor and its corresponding domains.	19 23 25
<ul><li>2.1</li><li>2.2</li><li>2.3</li><li>2.4</li></ul>	Site-specific labelling of single-cysteine containing protein via BADAN (6-Bromoacet         2-dimethylaminonaphthalene).         NBD-labelled CAMP factor Mutant on SDS-PAGE.         Haemolytic Assay of CAMP factor and its corresponding domains.         Inhibition of mature CAMP factor (WT) and N-terminal domain (NTD) by C-	19 23 25
<ul><li>2.1</li><li>2.2</li><li>2.3</li><li>2.4</li></ul>	Site-specific labelling of single-cysteine containing protein via BADAN (6-Bromoacet         2-dimethylaminonaphthalene).         NBD-labelled CAMP factor Mutant on SDS-PAGE.         Haemolytic Assay of CAMP factor and its corresponding domains.         Inhibition of mature CAMP factor (WT) and N-terminal domain (NTD) by C-terminal domain (CTD) on calcein-loaded liposomes.	19 23 25 26
<ol> <li>2.1</li> <li>2.2</li> <li>2.3</li> <li>2.4</li> <li>2.5</li> </ol>	Site-specific labelling of single-cysteine containing protein via BADAN (6-Bromoacet2-dimethylaminonaphthalene).NBD-labelled CAMP factor Mutant on SDS-PAGE.Haemolytic Assay of CAMP factor and its corresponding domains.Inhibition of mature CAMP factor (WT) and N-terminal domain (NTD) by C-terminal domain (CTD) on calcein-loaded liposomes.Inhibition of mature CAMP factor (WT) and N-terminal domain (NTD) haemolytic	19 23 25 26
<ul><li>2.1</li><li>2.2</li><li>2.3</li><li>2.4</li><li>2.5</li></ul>	Site-specific labelling of single-cysteine containing protein via BADAN (6-Bromoacet 2-dimethylaminonaphthalene)	23 25 26 27
<ol> <li>2.1</li> <li>2.2</li> <li>2.3</li> <li>2.4</li> <li>2.5</li> <li>2.6</li> </ol>	Site-specific labelling of single-cysteine containing protein via BADAN (6-Bromoacet 2-dimethylaminonaphthalene)	yl- 19 23 25 26 27

2.7	Disulfide mutants: verification and haemolytic activity.	29
3.1	Chemical structures of lipid species used in this study	34
3.2	Structure of fluorescent dyes commonly used in permeability assays	36
3.3	Effect of CAMP factor activity on dimyristoyl lipids in the presence or absence of cholesterol.	37
3.4	Effect of CAMP factor activity on palmitoyl/oleoyl lipids in the presence or ab- sence of cholesterol.	38
3.5	Effect of CAMP factor activity on dioleoyl lipids in the presence or absence of cholesterol.	39

# **List of Tables**

1.1	Prototypes of Pore-Forming Toxins (Modified from [2, 6])	3
1.2	Comparison of the <i>cfa</i> product in streptococci (compiled with data from [25])	9
2.1	CAMP factor variants used in this study.	20
3.1	CAMP Activity on Artificial Membranes	40

# **List of Abbreviations**

3D	Three-dimensional
BADAN	6-bromoacetyl-2-dimethylaminonaphthalene
BLAST	Basic Local Alignment Search Tool
CAMP	Christie, Atkins, and Munch-Petersen
САТН	Protein Structure Classification Database at University College London
<b>CDC</b>	Cholesterol-Dependent Cytolysin
СН	Cholesterol
<b>CTD</b>	C-Terminal Domain
DMPC	1,2-dimyristoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine
DMPG	1,2-dimyristoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphoglycerol
DOPC	1,2-dioleoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine
DOPG	1,2-dioleoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphoglycerol
DT	Diphtheria Toxin
ЕҮРС	Egg Yolk Phosphatidylcholine
FRET	Fluorescence (Förster) Resonance Energy Transfer

GAS ..... Group A Streptococci

- GBS ..... Group B Streptococci
- GPI ..... Glycosylphosphatidylinositol
- HBS ..... HEPES-Buffered Saline
- IANBD ...... N,N'-dimethyl-N-(iodoacetyl)-N'-(7-nitrobenz-2-oxa-1,3-diazol-4-yl)ethylenediamine
- MAC ..... Membrane Attack Complex
- NTD ..... N-terminal Domain
- NBD ..... 7-nitrobenz-2-Oxa-1,3-diazole
- PDB ..... Protein Data Bank
- PFP ..... Pore-Forming Protein
- PFT ..... Pore-Forming Toxin
- PFO ..... Perfringolysin O
- PLAP ..... Placental Alkline Phosphatase
- **POPC** ..... 1-palmitoyl-2-oleoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine
- **POPG** ..... 1-palmitoyl-2-oleoyl-*sn*-glycero-3-phosphoglycerol
- **SCOP** ..... Structural Classification of Proteins
- SDM ..... Site-Directed Mutagenesis
- sRBC ..... Sheep Red Blood Cell
- TCEP ..... Tris(2-carboxyethyl)phosphine

## **Chapter 1**

# Introduction

This thesis deals with *Streptococcus agalactiae* CAMP factor, a pore-forming protein, and in particular its structure and function. In this introductory chapter, I will first give some background on pore-forming proteins in general, with an emphasis on pore-forming bacterial toxins; this will be followed by an overview of previous work on CAMP factor.

#### **1.1 Pore-Forming Proteins**

Pore-forming proteins (PFPs) are generally secreted as water-soluble monomeric molecules that target and bind to a specific host cell surface element (i.e., sugars, lipids, or proteins) in order to use it as a receptor, then undergo a conformational change which favours oligomerization and thus allows them to insert into biological membranes to form pores; the ultimate effect of this membrane perforation is usually cell death [1, 2].

PFPs play several different roles in nature; they are often a part of attack or defense mechanisms deployed by a variety of organisms. These organisms range from humans to earthworms to sea anemones to fungi and bacteria [3, 4].

Humans, and vertebrates in general, employ PFPs both in the regulation of apoptosis (programmed cell death) and within their immune systems [1]. An essential step in the activation of apoptosis is the permeabilization of mitochondrial outer membrane, which is caused by Bax, a member of the Bcl2 family. An important part of the immune system is the complement cascade, which, upon activation by antigens, triggers the formation of a pore (the membrane-attack complex or MAC) on microbial cell membranes [3, 1]. Perforin, which is structurally similar to the MAC, is unleashed by lymphocytes upon virus-infected cells [3].

The role of complement and perforin in host-pathogen interactions is mirrored by that of microbial pore-forming toxins (PFTs), which enable the pathogens to combat the cells of the host's immune system, and in some cases to persist inside these cells [5]. Other microbial pore-forming proteins are not directly toxic but instead permit enzymatic toxins to enter the host cells; examples are the AB toxins such as diphtheria toxin or anthrax toxin, as well as type III secretion systems that create direct pathways for the transport of toxic proteins from the microbial to the host cell cytoplasm [3].

While conceptually similar, pore-forming proteins exhibit a great deal of structural diversity. Their secondary structure may be predominantly  $\alpha$ -helical or  $\beta$ -sheet; the pore size may vary from 10 to 300 Å [6, 2]; they may be monomeric or, more commonly, oligomeric. In the latter case, oligomerization typically precedes pore formation; thus, an oligomeric 'pre-pore' stage can often be detected which then turns into an actual pore by a cooperative process of membrane insertion [2].

#### **1.1.1 Pore-Forming Toxins**

In general, bacterial protein toxins are defined as secreted poisonous substances that directly interfere with the host organism by damaging or disrupting the membrane bilayer [7, 8]. However, though some PFPs are referred to as toxins, these typically act on animals or humans. There are exceptions, as toxins secreted by certain bacteria that attack other strains of the same species (i.e., protein toxins/bacteriocins secreted by organisms such as *Escherichia coli, Pseudomonas pyogenes, and Enterobacter cloacae*) [9]. In the following, the term 'toxin' may refer to both 'proper' toxins and to bacteriocins.

The PFT family, a subgroup of the PFPs, have very divergent amino acid sequences (or primary structures) but can be broadly classified into two large groups:  $\alpha$ -PFTs and  $\beta$ -PFTs [3, 2]. This classification is based on the secondary structure elements used by the PFT to traverse the membrane bilayer. In the case of  $\alpha$ -PFTs,  $\alpha$ -helices are used to span the membrane while  $\beta$ -PFTs form membrane-inserted  $\beta$ -barrels [2, 6]. Other domains within the toxin molecules usually mediate receptor binding and oligomer formation. In  $\alpha$ -PFTs, these auxiliary domains are typically largely  $\alpha$ -helical also, whereas in  $\beta$ -PFTs they may comprise both  $\beta$ -sheet and  $\alpha$ -helical elements [3]. Selected examples of the PFTs can be found in Table 1.1 with their class, family, and the organism that secretes them.

PFT	CLASS	FAMILY	ORGANISM
Colicin E1	$\alpha$ -PFTs	Colicins	Escherichia coli
Equinatoxin II	$\alpha$ -PFTs	Actinoporins	Actinia equina
Diphtheria toxin	$\alpha$ -PFTs	Colicin-like fold[4]	Corynebacterium diphtheriae
$\alpha$ -haemolysin (Hla)	$\beta$ -PFTs	Haemolysins	Staphylococcus aureus
Aerolysin	$\beta$ -PFTs	Aerolysins	Aeromonas hydrophila
Perfringolysin O	$\beta$ -PFTs	Cholesterol-Dependent Cytolysins	Clostridium pefringens

Table 1.1: Prototypes of Pore-Forming Toxins (Modified from [2, 6])

#### **1.1.2** $\alpha$ -Pore-Forming Toxins

Typically, the pore-forming domain of  $\alpha$ -PFTs contains a sandwich-like conformation within which a central hydrophobic helical hairpin is surrounded/protected by amphipathic anti-parallel hairpins of  $\alpha$ -helices, usually 6-10 in number (Figure 1.1) [6, 1].

A change in conformation is required for the release of the hydrophobic helical hairpin from the sandwich-like conformation into the membrane bilayer [6]. This change is triggered by contact with the target membrane and allows the surrounding helices to spread out on the membrane surface, such that charged residues interact with the polar head groups, while the hydrophobic residues face the bilayer interior [6]. The most thoroughly studied group of the  $\alpha$ -PFTs are the colicins secreted by *E. coli*. The colicins, like other bacteriocins, are secreted by the same species they attack and have a unique structure-function relationship responsible for causing cell death [10, 2]. They are secreted by *E. coli* in two forms: nuclease and pore-forming [10]. The unique three-dimensional (3D) structure of the pore-forming colicins contain three separate domains: the N-terminal, middle, and C-terminal domain [11, 10]. These domains serve three distinct functions: translocation, receptor-binding, and pore formation, respectively [10, 12].



**Figure 1.1: Hydrophobic helical hairpins. A:** Pore-forming domain of colicin A with the hydrophobic helical hairpin coloured in orange and surrounded by amphipathic anti-parallel helices coloured in gray (PDB ID: 1COL). **B:** Structure of diphtheria toxin transmembrane/translocation domain displayed in like manner to **A** for comparison (PDB ID: 1DDT). A common theme among predominantly helical PFTs, hydrophobic helical hairpins are normally sheltered in a bundle of amphipathic helices [2].

Other  $\alpha$ -PFTs also contain this theme of functional assignment to specific domains with the most notable being diphtheria toxin. Diphtheria toxin (DT) is secreted as a single polypeptide and cleaved by a protease into the A and the B chains, which remain connected by a disulfide bond [13]. The A chain, or the catalytic domain which contains enzymatic activity, is known to target the cytosol. The B chain, which contains the receptor-binding and translocation domains, is responsible for membrane binding and facilitation of the A chain transport into the cytosol [13, 14].

Once released from the B chain after internalization in the cytosol, the A chain ADP-ribosylates elongation factor 2, which inhibits protein synthesis and thus causes cell death [15, 14]. The B chain is responsible for membrane binding, insertion into the membrane bilayer, and facilitation of the translocation of the A chain into the cytosol by receptor-mediated endocytosis (Figure 1.1

B) [14]. The low pH inside the endosome causes DT to detach from its receptor and the B chain to insert into the endosome membrane. This facilitates the translocation of the A chain into the cytosol after disulfide reduction [14].

Eukaryotic organisms can also express proteins that are structurally related to the colicins. These proteins are from the Bcl-2 and Bcl-x protein family and show 3D structural similarities to the pore-forming/translocation domains of the colicins despite the absence of homology between amino acid sequences [6, 10].

#### **1.1.3** $\beta$ -Pore-Forming Toxins

As stated earlier,  $\beta$ -PFTs form pores in membranes via a bilayer-spanning  $\beta$ -barrel [6]. Once bound to their target membrane receptor,  $\beta$ -PFT monomers aggregate on the membrane and begin to form an intermediate structure known as the oligomeric pre-pore (Figure 1.2); this structure then undergoes the necessary conformational rearrangements which lead to concerted membrane insertion and subsequent pore formation [2, 6].

In certain cases the pores that are formed are incomplete, leading to partial membrane-spanning structures known as arc-pores. These arc-pores may be stable enough for release of internal cellular material due to the abundance of inter-strand hydrogen bonds [6, 3, 2].

Apart from the shared trait of the  $\beta$ -barrel, the members of this PFT family have little resemblance in terms of their primary, tertiary, and quaternary structures; there are, however, three common features that unite this family: their lack of long stretches of hydrophobic residues in their primary structure, their richness in  $\beta$ -sheet content, and their tendency to assemble into higher order oligomeric pre-pore structures prior to pore formation [2, 6]. These unifying features do not imply a common structure in the  $\beta$ -PFT monomer used to insert into membranes, as they can be used by members of the  $\beta$ -PFT family in different capacities such as domain rearrangements and proteolytic activation during the pore formation process [6].

Despite a lack of conformity in the  $\beta$ -PFT monomeric structure used for membrane insertion, there seems to be a common secondary structure that appears during the pore-forming process. This structure is known as the  $\beta$ -hairpin, which is used to insert into the membrane bilayer and



Figure 1.2: Process by which  $\beta$ -PFTs typically form pores. Once secreted as water-soluble monomers, they locate their receptor and concentrate on the membrane, form an oligomeric pre-pore and undergo the necessary rearrangements to form a transmembrane pore.

is consistent among the  $\beta$ -PFTs be it the aerolysin, CDC, or the haemolysin family; this insertion occurs through a conformational change in the monomer (Figures 1.2 and 1.3) [2, 6].

In the aerolysin family, the water-soluble monomer is first cleaved and undergoes a conformational change via a  $\beta$ -strand containing loop that transforms into a  $\beta$ -hairpin for the purpose of forming a pre-pore; this is followed by membrane insertion then pore formation [2]. In the case of the CDCs, two sequence motifs, which are  $\alpha$ -helical in the monomer, later concomitantly transform into amphipathic  $\beta$ -hairpins during membrane insertion[6]. Finally, the haemolysins-the toxin family that includes *S. aureus*  $\alpha$ -toxin-form 14- or 16-stranded  $\beta$ -barrel pores, conceal their membrane-inserting motif, prior to pore formation, in the form of a pre-stem loop [2]. The loop then becomes an antiparallel  $\beta$ -hairpin in the transmembrane domain of the oligomer once pore formation is complete (Figure 1.3) [2, 6].



Figure 1.3: Ribbon representation of the  $\alpha$ -haemolysin transmembrane pore. Structure of the *Staphylococcus aureus*  $\alpha$ -haemolysin pore. The water-soluble monomeric form of  $\alpha$ -haemolysin inserts into the lipid bilayer to form a mushroom-shaped homo-oligomeric heptamer with a transmembrane solvent-filled channel that is 100 Å in length. The transmembrane domain comprises the lower half of a 14-strand antiparallel  $\beta$ -barrel, to which each monomer contributes two  $\beta$  strands [16]. The lumen of the channel is hydrophilic while its exterior is hydrophobic. A: Perpendicular view of heptamer; B: Parallel view. PDB ID: 7AHL.

#### **1.2 CAMP factor: Background**

*Streptococcus agalactiae* CAMP factor was discovered by Christie, Atkins, and Munch-Petersen in 1944. The work of these scientists revealed that when *S. agalactiae*, which secretes CAMP factor, was grown in close proximity to *Staphylococcus aureus*, which secretes sphingomyelinase, synergistic haemolysis takes place [17]. The phenomenon was named the CAMP reaction after the surname initials of the authors and has been widely used as a test to presumptively identify clinical isolates of *S. agalactiae* [18, 19]. The CAMP reaction can be demonstrated by streaking *S. aureus* close to *S. agalactiae* on sheep blood agar plates (Figure 1.4). These streaks then result in an area

of enhanced haemolysis after incubation at 37 °C via the action of extracellular products from the aforementioned organisms (i.e., sphingomyelinase and CAMP factor, respectively) [20].

#### **1.2.1 CAMP Reaction Mechanism**

An important component of the CAMP reaction is sphingomyelinase—a membrane-damaging toxin [21]. Sphingomyelinase's membrane-damaging action on sheep red blood cells (sRBCs) sensitizes them by conversion of sphingomyelin to ceramide. The sensitization of sRBCs by sphingomyelinase then leads to a pronounced zone of haemolysis when these cells are exposed to CAMP factor. This zone of synergistic haemolysis is due to pore formation and is distinct from the action of any other extracellular product released by either organism [22].

The synergistic action of sphingomyelinase and CAMP factor is observed only on cells with at least 45 mol% sphingomyelin in the membrane [23]. This requirement explains why the initial observers of the CAMP reaction did not detect synergistic haemolysis in human, rabbit, horse, and guinea pig RBCs, which contain 27 mol%, 19 mol%, 14 mol%, and 11 mol% sphingomyelin, respectively [17, 24]. Bovine and sheep RBCs displayed distinct lysis because of their 46 mol% and 51 mol% sphingomyelin, respectively [24]. CAMP factor is able to act on RBCs that are high in phosphatidylcholine rather sphingomyelin when these are pre-treated with phospholipase C (PLC), which converts glycerophospholipids to diacylglycerol. Thus, CAMP factor does not require ceramide specifically for membrane permeabilization [22].

From liposome permeablization studies, Lang and Palmer inferred that cholesterol concentration plays a role in CAMP factor's activity. Results from calcein release experiments showed that liposomes containing 45 mol% cholesterol were three times more sensitive to CAMP factor than those with 25 mol% [22]. Thus, it seems that cholesterol is an important element in CAMP factor activity on cell membranes but more work is needed to further understand the effect of cholesterol and lipid composition on the CAMP reaction mechanism.



**Figure 1.4:** Schematic representation of CAMP reaction on sheep red blood cell agar plate. A positive result of *Streptococcus agalactiae* or GBS's CAMP factor action on the *Staphylococcus aureus* sphingomyelinase-sensitized RBCs is shown by the expansive bright yellow co-haemolysis zone. This zone represents enhanced haemolysis as opposed to the minor haemolytic activity seen around each streak. A negative result is observed via a streak of *Streptococcus pyogenes* or GAS in close proximity to *S. aureus*.

#### 1.2.2 Characterization of CAMP factor and its Mode of Action

CAMP factor is an extracellular protein secreted by *S. agalactiae*. Several other streptococci, such as *S. pyogenes* and *S. uberis*, contain and express the highly conserved CAMP factor gene (*cfa*) whose protein product is homologous to that of *S. agalactiae* CAMP factor (Table 1.2).

Organism	Number of residues in nascent	Number of residues in mature	Sequence similarity S. agalactiae	Molecular weight of gene product
	CAMP factor	CAMP factor	CAMP factor	(kDa)
S. agalactiae	255	226	100%	28.4
S. pyogenes	257	229	59.9%	28.5
S. uberis	256	228	66.4%	28.3

Table 1.2: Comparison of the *cfa* product in streptococci (compiled with data from [25])

After the cleavage of its N-terminal signal peptide, mature CAMP factor contains 226 amino acids with a molecular weight of approximately 26 kDa [22]. CAMP factor was first characterized as a PFT by Lang and Palmer in 2003 through electron microscopy and osmotic protection studies that demonstrated that CAMP factor forms pores that vary in size on sRBCs pre-sensitized with

sphingomyelinase. The electron microscopy studies showed both regular and arc-shaped pores. The largest of these pores were reported as being 12 nm or more in diameter [22]. Comparable results had previously been described for Streptolysin O (SLO) as well the Membrane Attack Complex (MAC) of complement proteins [26, 27].

In addition, the osmotic protection studies using polyethylene glycols (PEGs) of varying size showed that CAMP factor activity on RBCs results in delayed haemolysis in the presence of PEG 6000 and 8000 [22]. Previous experiments using PEGs 4000 and 6000, with hydrodynamic radii of 1.6 nm and 2.7 nm, respectively, and the observation that PEG 4000 and 6000 had no protective effect on CAMP factor suggested that the effective pore radius is within this range [22]. The results of the aforementioned experiments therefore suggested that CAMP factor is a PFT which causes lysis on susceptible cell membranes.

In addition to the aforementioned studies, subsequent work on CAMP factor in the Palmer group focused on the identification of the membrane-spanning domain of CAMP factor [28]. These studies initially examined residues 119 to 144 of CAMP factor by using hydropathy plots of its primary sequence which suggested that these residues span the membrane bilayer [29]. This cursory examination was followed by cysteine-scanning mutagenesis, fluorescent labelling, and haemolytic assays of said mutants to characterize the region of interest as membrane-inserting [28, 30]. The final conclusion of this work was that CAMP factor used the aforementioned residues to traverse the membrane bilayer as an amphipathic  $\alpha$ -helix [28, 30]. The results from the above studies therefore indicated that more work was required to increase our understanding of the membrane-binding as well as the membrane-inserting domain of *S. agalactiae* CAMP factor through a study that reveals the protein structure.

Previous work on CAMP factor also focused on the search for a cell surface receptor as experiments using calcein-loaded, ceramide-containing liposomes, suggested that ceramide was not specifically required for CAMP factor activity; additionally, the amount of cholesterol in the membrane was also shown to influence CAMP factor activity, but the toxin did not have significant homology with PFTs that use cholesterol as a cell surface receptor [22, 31]. Taken together, these findings suggested that perhaps a membrane component other than a bulk lipid was involved in CAMP factor's binding to erythrocyte membranes [31]. Several homologous PFTs (e.g., *A. hydrophila* aerolysin and *Clostridium septicum*  $\alpha$ -toxin) were long known for their receptor-mediated binding to membranes through their high affinity interaction with the glycan core of various glycosylphophatidylinositol(GPI)-anchored proteins [32, 33]. GPI anchors have a shared core that is composed of an ethanolamine phosphate, three mannose residues, and a non-acetylated glucosamine linked to phosphatidylinositol [34]. The basic structure of a membrane-embedded GPI-anchored protein is shown in Figure 1.5.



Figure 1.5: General structure of a GPI-anchored protein in a membrane bilayer.  $R-R_6$ : Possible modifications, R: acyl chain  $R_1$ : mannose,  $R_2$ : phosphoethanolamine,  $R_3$ : phosphoethanolamine,  $R_4$ : tetragalactose,  $R_5$ : N-acetylgalactosamine, and  $R_6$ : fatty acyl residue

Lang and coworkers therefore pursued the possibility of a glycan receptor by cleaving the GPI anchor on the surface of RBCs as well as the incorporation of placental alkaline phosphatase, a GPI-anchored protein, into model membranes loaded with calcein and treating them with CAMP factor, separately [31]. The results from this work showed that CAMP factor uses the carbohydrate moiety of GPI-anchored proteins as a cell surface receptor in binding to membranes [31].

#### **1.3 The CAMP factor 3D Structure**

Despite the aforementioned insights concerning *S. agalactiae* CAMP factor's mode of action, the molecular and structural details of its ability to form pores remained unknown. This is because CAMP factor does not share sequence homology with any proteins whose 3D structure have been

solved. Accordingly, homology-based assignment of structure and function was not possible. Furthermore, the absence of a 3D structure limited the range of strategic experiments that could be used to gain further insights about CAMP factor's mechanism.

#### 1.3.1 Insights from the 3D Structure of CAMP factor

Through the work of Dr. Tengchuan Jin, the three-dimensional structure of CAMP factor has been solved (manuscript submitted). This was achieved through X-ray crystallography and showed that the overall structure of *S. agalactiae* CAMP factor is composed of two domains separated by a linker region and constitutes a novel structural fold not found in the Protein Data Bank (PDB). The N-terminal domain (NTD) consists of a bundle of five helices while the C-terminal domain (CTD) contains a bundle of three (Figure 1.6).



Figure 1.6: Three-dimensional structure and helix nomenclature of *S. agalactiae* CAMP factor. A: The two distinct domains highlighted by the curly brace (i.e., the NTD (blue) and CTD (brown)) as well as the linker region (black) which joins them. B: Helices are numbered consecutively from the N-to the C-terminus. Helices  $\alpha 1-\alpha 5$  form the NTD in teal; the CTD corresponds to  $\alpha 6-\alpha 8$  coloured in brick red). The linker region is highlighted in black. PDB ID: 56HI.

Accordingly, a portion of this thesis work is dedicated to the experimental characterization of the functional roles of the domains of CAMP factor. This work was done via haemolytic experiments, liposome permeabilization studies, as well as mutagenesis and fluorescence studies. The findings, which are presented in Chapter 2, suggest that the NTD is chiefly responsible for membrane permeabilization while the CTD accounts for membrane binding and likely participates in oligomerization on membranes.

#### **1.3.1.1** The CAMP factor Structure Represents a New Structural Fold

A BLAST search did not yield a homologous structural model by sequence similarity. Thus, the submission of the coordinates of the 3D structure of CAMP factor to several online servers (i.e., DALI, pdbefold, and VAST) was necessary to determine whether homologous structures exist in the PDB [35, 36, 37].



Figure 1.7: Structural similarity of the C-terminal domain. Structural alignment of the CAMP factor C-terminal domain with helices  $\alpha 3 \cdot \alpha 5$  of the NTD and with domains of three other proteins that belong to group 46996 of the SCOP database [40]. The CTD is coloured in blue. The alignments were carried out using PyMOL<sup>®</sup>.

In general, these servers compare the 3D structure of a protein to structural fold databases (i.e., SCOP and CATH) to identify similar structural folds [38, 39]. Surprisingly, no protein was found with architecture or topology identical to CAMP factor suggesting that CAMP factor's 3D structure defines a novel structural fold.

Furthermore, when the two domains are considered independently, no known protein structural fold was found for the NTD in the aforementioned databases. However, the 3-helix bundle of the CTD shares high structural similarity with the immunoglobulin/albumin-binding domain-like

fold (i.e., group 46996 of in the SCOP database) [40]. In addition, a careful examination of the two domains of CAMP factor shows that the 3-helix bundle,  $\alpha 6-\alpha 8$ , of the CTD, is practically superimposable on  $\alpha 3-\alpha 5$  of the NTD (Figure 1.7).

#### 1.3.1.2 CAMP factor Lacks Extended Hydrophobic Sequence Motifs

CAMP factor is a PFT that has been shown to form membrane-inserted pores and has high helical content (Figure 1.6) [22]. Consequently, its monomeric structure would be expected to contain a hydrophobic helical hairpin as observed among  $\alpha$ -PFT family (Figure 1.1). However, this theme is not exemplified in CAMP factor; rather, a seemingly random arrangement of hydrophobic and hydrophilic residues is found on its surface (Figure 1.8).



**Figure 1.8: Hydrophobic and hydrophilic residue distribution on the CAMP factor protein surface.** Two perspectives of the CAMP factor surface structure are displayed. The residues are coloured using the scale defined by [41] with the most hydrophilic residues are shown in blue, neutral ones in white, and hydrophobic ones in dark orange. Decreasing hydrophobicity or hydrophilicity is shown by a decrease in the shade of either blue or dark orange. PDB ID: 56HI.

#### 1.3.1.3 CAMP factor Lacks a Clear Hydrophobic Helical Hairpin

A common theme among the predominantly helical PFTs (e.g., colicin A and diphtheria toxin) is the use of hydrophobic helical hairpins to insert into the lipid bilayer and form membraneinserted pores (Figure 1.6) [42, 43, 44]. However, no clear hydrophobic helical hairpin was found in CAMP factor by using either sequence- or structure-based prediction tools [35, 36, 37, 45]. Additionally, none of the bioinformatics tools used could locate any carbohydrate-binding motifs in CAMP factor to account for its experimentally observed binding to GPI anchors [31, 46, 47, 48].

#### **1.4 The Research Project**

#### **1.4.1** Research objectives

The focus of this research project is to gain further insights into the function of the domains of *Streptococcus agalactiae* CAMP factor as well as the effect of target membrane lipid composition on toxin activity.

The revelation of a novel structural fold composed of two separate domains that make up a 5+3 helix bundle connected by a linker region by X-ray crystallography provoked further inquiry into the functional role of the N- and C-terminal domains of CAMP factor. The functional role of each domain was probed by the use of haemolytic assays, calcein release studies, as well as liposome permeabilization experiments via a fluorescently labelled mutant and domain constructs. Additionally, since previous studies have suggested that CAMP factor activity varies with lipid composition and requires cholesterol for pore formation, this assertion was further examined using cholesterol-deficient and cholesterol-containing model membranes with some interesting new findings. Accordingly, this thesis focuses on the following areas:

1. The functional roles of the N- and C-terminal domains of CAMP factor. This topic will be addressed in Chapter 2.

2. The effect of membrane lipid composition on the activity of *S. agalactiae* CAMP factor. This topic is the subject of Chapter 3.

## Chapter 2

# Functional Roles of N- and C-Terminal Domains of CAMP factor

#### 2.1 Introduction

*Streptococcus agalactiae* is known for its ability to cause disease in newborn infants as well as pregnant or postpartum women, immune-compromised individuals, and the elderly [49, 50]. Also known as group B streptococcus (GBS), it is the cause of contagious cattle mastitis as well as a fish pathogen [51, 52]. *S. agalactiae* strains express CAMP factor<sup>1</sup>, a 26 kDa pore-forming toxin (PFT) which plays a major role in the CAMP reaction [22, 53].

The CAMP reaction is the synergistic lysis of sheep red blood cells (sRBCs) by sphingomyelinase from *Staphylcoccus aureus* and CAMP factor. The initial description of this co-haemolytic phenomenon was first described by Christie, Atkins, and Munch-Petersen, whose surname initials now form its moniker [17].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The work presented in this chapter reflects a combined effort between Tengchuan Jin, PhD and Eric K. Brefo-Mensah. The manuscript has been submitted for review to *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*. Dr. Tengchuan Jin generated and purified the CAMP factor domain constructs (i.e., N- and C-terminal domains) as well as the cysteine mutants and MBP-CAMP. He also crystallized the forms of CAMP factor necessary for solving the 3D structure. Eric K. Brefo-Mensah, was responsible for purification and verification of WT, SeMetCAMP, F138C activity as well as the other haemolytic assays, liposome permeabilization, fluorescent labelling, and spectrofluorimetry.

On membranes of sRBCs treated with sphingomyelinase, the addition of CAMP factor results in circular pores of variable diameter that are visible when observed by electron microscopy [22]. Formation of these pores is facilitated by the attachment of CAMP factor to the cell membrane via the glycosyl moieties of glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored proteins (GPI-APs) [31].

The structure of CAMP factor, which has recently been solved, contains two well-delineated domains that are joined by what appears to be a flexible linker. The structure also shows no close similarity to any other pore-forming toxin that would allow the functional roles of each domain to be assigned. The studies described in this chapter aim to characterize these functional roles through experiment.

#### 2.1.1 Site-Specific Labelling of Proteins via Fluorescent Probes

Spectroscopic methods are often employed when studying protein structure and function. Fluorescence spectroscopy is one such method and requires chemical modification of biomolecules, specifically proteins and their constituent amino acids [54, 55]. Conventional protein chemical modification focuses on covalent attachment of fluorescent probes to the amino, carboxyl, imidazole, and thiol groups of target proteins [56, 55].

In order to properly study membrane insertion, methods such as steady-state fluorescence and Fluorescence (Förster) Resonance Energy Transfer (FRET) are used, which require that specific residues of proteins be labelled [57]. Of the 20 standard amino acids, lysine, which contains a primary amine side chain, and cysteine, which contains a thiol side chain, are the two amino acids for which there are well known and efficient labelling strategies as well as commercially available dyes [58].

Though lysine can be selectively labelled, its high abundance in most proteins means that site-specific labelling is unrealistic. However, cysteine's rare occurrence in proteins, as well as its nucleophilicity, makes it a viable candidate for site-specific fluorescent labelling with various fluorescent probes [56, 59]. Additionally, cysteines can be introduced into proteins by site-directed mutagenesis for the sake of fluorescent labelling (Figure 2.1) [60].



**Figure 2.1:** Site-specific labelling of single-cysteine containing protein via BADAN (6-Bromoacetyl-2-dimethylaminonaphthalene). In this reaction the nucleophile is the thiol group of the cysteine. The reaction an be performed in 1 mM TCEP at approximately pH 7.3.

In this chapter, site-specific labelling is employed in attaching a fluorescent probe to an active cysteine mutant of CAMP factor for the purpose of studying membrane insertion, without the loss of protein function.

#### 2.2 Materials and Methods

#### 2.2.1 Protein Expression and Purification

The plasmid, pGEX-KG, a gift from Dr. Jingya Li (Head of Drug Screening at the National Centre for Drug Screening, Shanghai, China) contains the coding sequence of wild type (WT) CAMP factor CAMP<sup>(M50L,M136L)</sup>, a double mutant, which was expressed for the current study[22]. CAMP <sup>(M50L,M136L)</sup> is active and equivalent to the CAMP factor from *Streptococcus agalactiae*. The coding sequence of PGEX-KG is derived from mature wild type CAMP factor, amplified from *Streptococcus agalactiae* genomic DNA, and matches the published mature peptide sequence for CAMP factor [22]. An additional mutant, F138C, was also expressed with phenylalanine residue 138 replaced with cysteine having no effect on activity [30]. Both WT and F138C were expressed

using BL21 (DE3) *Escherichia coli* and purified using glutathione agarose (GSH-Agarose) (Sigma-Aldrich<sup>®</sup>, St. Louis, MO) Table 2.1.

Constructs of the two domains of CAMP factor were fused, expressed, and purified with maltose-binding protein (MBP; PDB ID: 1MPD) by Dr. Tengchuan Jin from a pET30-derived vector as previously described, then cleaved by Tobacco Etch Virus protease [61]. MBP-CAMP was purified using immobilized metal affinity chromatography Table 2.1.

Protein purity for all forms of CAMP factor mentioned were assessed by mass spectrometry and SDS-PAGE analysis to be greater than 95%. Furthermore, protein concentration was measured by the Bradford Assay [62].

**Table 2.1: CAMP factor variants used in this study.** Pseudo-wild type (usually referred to as 'WT' in the text) contains two mutant leucine residues where wild-type CAMP factor contains methionines; these substitutions do not affect activity [63]. In the mutant F138C, residue phenylalanine 138 has been replaced with cysteine. All mutant residues are highlighted.

CAMP factor Variant	Protein Sequence
Pseudo-WT	DQVTTPQVVNHVNSNNQAQQ <b>L</b> AQKLDQDSIQLRNIKDNVQ
	GTDYEKPVNEAITSVEKLKTSLRANPETVYDLNSIGSRVE
	ALTDVIEAITFSTQHLANKVSQANID <b>L</b> G <b>F</b> GITKLVIRILD
	PFASVDSIKAQVNDVKALEQKVLTYPDLKPTDRATIYTKS
	KLDKEIWNTRFTRGKKVLNVKEFKVYNTLNKAITHAVGVQ
	LNPNVTVQQVDQEIVTLQAALQTALK
N-terminal domain (NTD)	GSVDSNNQAQQMAQKRDQDSIQLRNIKDNVQGTDYEKPVN
	EAITSVEKLKTSLRANSETVYDLNSIGSRVEALTDVIEAI
	TFSTQHLANKVSQANIDMGFGITKLVIRILDPFASVDSIK
	AQVNDVKALEQKVLTYPDLKPTDAAAS
C-terminal domain (CTD)	GSVDRATIYTKSKLDKEIWNTRFTRDKKVLNVKEFKVYNT
	LNKAITHAVGVQLNPNVTVQQVDQEIVTLQAALQTALKAA
	AS

#### 2.2.2 Haemolysis Assay

Sheep RBCs (Cedarlane<sup>®</sup>, Burlington, ON) were washed five times in HEPES-buffered saline (HBS, 20 mM HEPES, 150 mM NaCl, pH 7.4) by centrifugation at approximately  $600 \times g$  for four minutes. The erythrocytes were then re-suspended in HBS, with 10 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub> at pH 7.4,

to 1% (v/v). The re-suspended cells were then treated with 50 mU/ml sphingomyelinase (EC 3.1.4.12, Sigma-Aldrich<sup>®</sup>, St. Louis, MO) from *Staphylococcus aureus* and incubated at 37°C for 30 minutes. A 125  $\mu$ L of cell suspension was added to CAMP factor - WT, NTD, or CTD, alone or in combination (compositions and final concentrations are indicated in the Results section) - in the wells of a 96-well microtiter plate to a 250  $\mu$ L final volume.

The progress of haemolysis was measured by the decrease in optical density of 650 nm, a wavelength that lies outside the absorption band of haemoglobin and thus reflects cell turbidity alone. These measurements were performed using a SpectraMax<sup>®</sup> Plus 384 Microplate Reader (Molecular Devices<sup>®</sup>, Sunnyvale, CA). In all cases, the experiments were performed in quadruplicates, in parallel, using the same samples and repeated at a later date for confirmation. The results in parallel and from different days were identical. Control samples without CAMP factor remained stable during the assay period.

#### 2.2.3 Liposome Permeabilization

In order to prepare liposomes, 1,2-dimyristoyl-*sn*-glycero-3-phosphocholine (DMPC), cholesterol, and 1,2-dimyristoyl-*sn*-glycero-3-phosphoglycerol (DMPG) were purchased from Avanti Polar Lipids (Alabaster, AL). The lipids were dissolved in chloroform and mixed at a molar ratio of 6.5:2.5:1. The mixture was dried under a stream of nitrogen in a round-bottom flask for five minutes and then dried under vacuum for an additional three hours to remove residual chloroform.

The dried lipids were re-suspended by vortexing for 30 minutes with 3.0 mL of HEPESbuffered saline (HBS, 20 mM HEPES, 150 mM NaCl, pH 7.4) containing 50 mM calcein (Sigma-Aldrich<sup>®</sup>, St. Louis, MO) at room temperature to a final total lipid concentration of 3 mg/mL. The resulting suspension of multilamellar liposomes was converted to unilamellar liposomes by extrusion through a 100 nm polycarbonate membrane filter (Whatman), 15 times. Subsequently, non-encapsulated calcein was removed by chromatography using a Bio-Gel A-1.5m (BIO-RAD<sup>®</sup>, Mississauga, ON) column pre-equilibrated with HBS.

The calcein-loaded liposomes were diluted to approximately  $30 \mu g/mL$  total lipid with HBS, mixed with CAMP factor - WT, NTD, or CTD, alone or in combination (compositions and final concentrations are indicated in the Results section), and then incubated for 30 minutes at room

temperature. The calcein fluorescence intensity was then measured (excitation, 478 nm; emission, 516 nm) on the QuantaMaster spectrofluorometer (Photon Technology International (PTI), London, ON). In all cases, the experiments were performed in triplicates, in parallel, using the same samples and then repeated at a later date for confirmation. The results in parallel and from different days were identical.

The extent of membrane permeabilization for each sample P was then calculated using the following formula:

$$P = \frac{(F_{\text{sample}} - F_0)}{(F_{\text{triton}} - F_0)}$$
(2.2.1)

where  $F_{\text{sample}}$  is the fluorescence of a liposome sample treated with toxin, while  $F_0$  is the fluorescence of a liposome control without toxin, and  $F_{\text{triton}}$  is that of a liposome sample solubilized with Triton X-100 at a final concentration of 0.01%.

#### 2.2.4 Fluorescent Labelling and Spectrofluorimetry

The cysteine mutant F138C (Table 2.1) was chosen for its activity comparable to that of WT CAMP factor and its membrane insertion capability by demonstrated by 5-doxyl stearic acid quenching of the labelled mutant in the membrane bilayer [30]. Mutant F138C was transferred to labelling buffer consisting of 100 mM sodium phosphate buffer with 1 mM Tris (2-carboxyethyl) phosphine (TCEP), pH 7.3, using gel filtration. Collected fractions were supplemented with 0.5 mM of N,N'-dimethyl-N-(iodoacetyl)-N'-(7-nitrobenz-2-oxa-1,3-diazol-4-yl)ethylenediamine (IANBD) (Invitrogen, Burlington ON). The samples were incubated at room temperature for 120 minutes with gentle stirring. The excess label was removed by gel filtration. In order to determine the labelling efficiency, the molar ratio of fluorophore to protein was calculated from UV-VIS spectra using and extinction coefficient of 23,500 l/mol  $\times$  cm for IANBD at 478 nm. The extinction coefficient of CAMP factor was determined to be 25,040 l/mol  $\times$  cm at 280 nm [64]. The measured absorbance values at 280 nm of the labelled proteins were corrected for absorbance of the dye at 280 nm. Labelling efficiencies ranged from 85 to 95%. The labelled protein was run

on SDS-PAGE, after gel filtration, to verify purity by absence of the residual free label normally expected at the dye front (Figure 2.2).



**Figure 2.2: NBD-labelled CAMP factor Mutant on SDS-PAGE.** Ultraviolet trans-illuminated SDS-PAGE gel of F138CNBD. Cysteine mutant F138 was labelled with IANBD with high labelling efficiency in TCEP-containing sodium phosphate buffer (100 mM sodium phosphate buffer with 1 mM Tris (2-carboxyethyl) phosphine (TCEP), pH 7.3) and purified via gel filtration.

Fluorescence measurements were performed using sRBC ghost membranes. The erythrocytes were lysed osmotically with low-salt phosphate buffer (5 mM Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 5 mM NaCl, pH 7.0) and washed repeatedly by centrifugation (i.e.,  $16,250 \times g$  for 10 minutes) until a clear supernatant resulted. The sRBC membranes were then treated with sphingomyelinase as for haemolysis assays. The ghost membranes were suspended in HBS and incubated with the NBD-labelled mutant for 60 minutes at room temperature. The mixture was collected by centrifugation, the supernatant was retained, and the membrane pellet re-suspended in HBS buffer. Fluorescence emission spectra were acquired in a PTI QuantaMaster spectrofluorometer, using an excitation wavelength of 478 nm. The emission intensity was corrected for incomplete membrane binding; the extent of binding was determined by comparing the fluorescence of the saved supernatant with that of an equivalent amount of labelled mutant that had not been incubated with membranes. The bandpasses for excitation and emission were between 2 and 5 nm with the spectra acquired at room temperature.

#### 2.3 Results

#### **2.3.1** Functional Roles of the Two Domains

The novelty of CAMP factor's structure implies that the functions of its distinct domains cannot be inferred from any previously known model. In order to study the individual functions of CAMP factor's N- and C-terminal domains, they were expressed as separate fragments and their activities compared to that of WT toxin on sphingomyelinase-treated RBCs as well as liposomes composed of PC, PG, and Cholesterol (Figures 2.3 and 2.4).

On its own, CTD permeabilizes neither RBCs nor liposomes. NTD alone, however, permeabilizes both RBCs and liposomes; this indicates that membrane insertion and pore-forming activity predominantly reside within this domain. Furthermore, a fascinating find is made when the specific activity of NTD is compared to that of WT CAMP factor on the two membrane types: the haemolytic activity of NTD is about 10<sup>4</sup> times lower than that of WT CAMP factor, whereas on liposomes the activity is only about 15 times lower. Thus, the deletion of CTD has a much greater impact on RBCs, which contain GPI anchors, than on liposomes, which do not (Figure 2.3 and Figure 2.4).

Further characterization of NTD was pursued by monitoring membrane insertion of residue F138 in helix  $\alpha 4$  (Figure 1.6). The cysteine mutant of F138 was then labelled with the polaritysensitive dye NBD (henceforth F138CNBD) [66]. Once incubated with RBCs or liposomes, membrane-inserted F138CNBD produces a fluorescence emission that increased significantly compared to its monomeric counterpart in solution. Furthermore, a blue shift of approximately 10 nm was observed at the maximum emission wavelength. NBD typically responds this way when it inserts into the hydrophobic interior of the lipid bilayer [67]. On the other hand, since tryptophan fluorescence also tends to blue-shift upon membrane insertion, the CTD was incubated with liposomes to determine whether there was a change in fluorescence. The incubation did not change the fluorescence spectrum of the sole tryptophan residue (Figure 2.6B).

The question of the role of each domain in the interaction with neighbouring oligomer subunits provoked further inquiry into the effect of CTD in the presence of both WT CAMP factor and NTD.



**Figure 2.3: Haemolytic Assay of CAMP factor and its corresponding domains.** WT CAMP factor was applied to sphingomyelinase-treated sheep red blood cells at the various concentrations (**A**); the same was done for the N-terminal domain fragment (**B**) as well as the C-terminal domain (**C**). No difference in effect was observed in the CTD fragment at various concentrations and thus only the maximum concentration used is shown. Note the significant difference in concentration between WT CAMP factor and the domain fragments. The transmittance of light through the cell suspension was monitored over time at a wavelength of 650 nm far outside the absorbance of haemoglobin (i.e., 540 nm) [65]. An increase in transmittance indicates reduced turbidity due to haemolysis. All transmittance values represent the means of quadruplicates.



Figure 2.4: Inhibition of mature CAMP factor (WT) and N-terminal domain (NTD) by Cterminal domain (CTD) on calcein-loaded liposomes. Liposomes containing PC, Cholesterol, and PG were loaded with self-quenching concentrations of calcein. Once the membrane is permeabilized, calcein is diluted and fluorescence is increased in solution. Detergent solubilization (i.e., Triton X-100) is used as the positive control. A: WT causes half-maximal permeabilization at 66.7 nM. The CTD alone has no effect; its addition to WT at four fold molar excess partially inhibits WT. B: The same experiment plotted using a relative scale for calcein release, with additional molar ratios for WT:CTD included. C: NTD at 1  $\mu$ M causes a similar extent of membrane permeabilization as a 15-fold lower amount of WT. NTD is also subject to inhibition by CTD. The error bars represent the standard deviation of the mean of calcein release between triplicates of each mixture of toxin and liposomes.



Figure 2.5: Inhibition of mature CAMP factor (WT) and N-terminal domain (NTD) haemolytic activity by C-terminal domain (CTD) on RBCs. WT (100 ng/mL) (A) and the NTD fragment (500  $\mu$ g/mL) (B) were each admixed in the presence or absence of CTD at various doses and then combined with sphingomyelinase-treated sRBCs as in figure 2.3. At sufficiently high doses, CTD virtually eliminates the activity of both WT and NTD. All transmittance values represent the means of quadruplicates.



**Figure 2.6: Fluorescence of NBD-labelled CAMP factor on RBC ghost membranes and the autofluorescence of the C-terminal domain (CTD) fragment on liposomes.** CAMP factor residue F138, of the N-terminal domain, was replaced by cysteine and iodoacetamide derivative of the polaritysensitive probe, NBD and termed F138CNBD. **A:** Incubation of F138CNBD with sphingomyelinasetreated sheep erythrocyte ghost membranes causes a large increase in fluorescence intensity as well as a significant blue shift, a behaviour consistent with the insertion of NBD in the membrane interior. **B:** Incubation of the CTD fragment with liposomes did not show any notable change in fluorescence or blue shift. All fluorescence signal values represent the means of triplicates.

Accordingly, WT toxin was combined with CTD prior to its addition to sphingomyelinase-treated RBCs. Interestingly, WT toxin was inhibited in a dose-dependent manner by CTD (Figure 2.5A). A similar result was observed when NTD was mixed with CTD prior to RBC addition (Figure 2.5B).

Although it is plausible that CTD's inhibition of WT toxin and NTD are a result of competition for binding to the GPI anchor on RBCs, inhibition was also observed on liposomes in both cases (Figure 2.4). Accordingly, since the liposomes used did not contain any GPI anchors, it is likely that the inhibition is due to a direct interaction between: 1) CTD and WT toxin, and 2) CTD and NTD.

## 2.3.2 Functional Significance of Conformational Flexibility within the Linker and NTD Regions

Pore-forming proteins are known for undergoing conformational changes when inserting into membranes [2]. A well-known technique for investigating these conformational changes is the restriction of the mobility of specific domains of the protein. This can be done by strategic introduction of disulfide bonds in certain closely interacting secondary structure elements and determining the effect on function [68]. As displayed in Figure 2.7A, disulfide bonds can be engineered into two distinct pairs of helices of the NTD in CAMP factor (i.e., DS1 and DS2) by mutagenesis. These modifications result in quantifiable decreases in haemolytic activity.

Interestingly, the introduction of a disulfide bond between the NTD and the CTD, as in residues 130 of  $\alpha$ 3 and 184 of helix  $\alpha$ 6, (i.e., DS3, Figure 2.7A) did not result in a notable change in haemolytic activity. This result is surprising since the linker region seems like a good site for local conformational flexibility (Figure 2.7).



**Figure 2.7: Disulfide mutants: verification and haemolytic activity.** A: cysteine mutant pairs and their locations in the CAMP factor structure. B: SDS-PAGE of disulfide mutants in the absence and presence of the disulfide-reducing agent DTT. Accelerated migration indicates presence of disulfide bonds. C: Haemolytic activity of each mutant with and without DTT; L represents the protein ladder. The error bars represent the standard deviation of the mean of haemolytic activity at 180s within quadruplicates of each unique mixture of toxin and RBCs.

#### 2.4 Discussion

#### 2.4.1 Insights on Function: the N- and C-Terminal Domain

#### 2.4.1.1 Domain Function is not Immediately Revealed Through Structure

CAMP factor's 3D structure reveals that the NTD and the CTD contain amphiphilic helices that may interact with the lipid membrane (Figure 1.6 and 1.8). These hydrophobic and hydrophilic regions are not clearly delineated and suggest that the CAMP factor molecule must undergo significant conformational rearrangement during pore formation [67]. These changes should orient hydrophobic regions so as to face the lipid bilayer, whereas the hydrophilic ones should face the pore lumen. This is not unprecedented as pore-forming proteins undergo conformational changes from their monomeric to oligomeric forms [2]. Therefore, further insights concerning CAMP factor show that the structure does not immediately lead to the assignment of function and thus further insights were needed from each of the domain fragments (i.e., NTD and CTD) through additional experimentation.

# 2.4.1.2 NTD is Responsible for Membrane Permeabilization; CTD is Responsible for more than Membrane Binding

The experiments with the separately expressed domain fragments showed that NTD permeabilizes both RBCs and liposomes, while the CTD permeabilizes neither, suggesting that the membrane-damaging activity resides mostly in the NTD. Furthermore, the haemolytic activity of NTD is about four orders of magnitude lower than that of WT toxin, whereas on liposomes the activity is only about 15 times lower. A plausible explanation for this discrepancy would be that the CTD mediates binding to GPI anchors; the loss of this function would be noticed on red blood cells, but not on liposomes. At the same time, the remaining difference, between WT and NTD, on liposomes suggests that the role of the CTD is not limited to GPI anchor binding. In keeping with this conclusion, CTD was found to inhibit the activity of both WT toxin and NTD, and this inhibition was manifest on both red blood cells and liposomes (Figures 2.3, 2.4, and 2.5). These results also suggest that if the role of CTD were limited to binding, or in the case of competition with NTD, blocking GPI anchors, then it should not affect NTD on red blood cells. The other possibility is that CTD should only affect NTD on red blood cells if NTD also binds to the GPI anchor. Moreover, since liposomes have no GPI anchors, or other specific receptors, CTD should not inhibit NTD or WT toxin on liposomes. Therefore, these observations suggest that the CTD interferes with steps in pore formation other than binding and likely participates in oligomerization by interacting with the NTD. Participation of the CTD in oligomerization by interaction with the NTD is not unprecedented as it has been shown that the trypsin-cleaved domain 4-containing fragment of PFO and the domain 4 fragment of streptolysin O, both PFTs of the CDC subgroup, are capable of inhibiting the activity of their respective full length wild type toxins [69, 70]. These observations will require further validation by work on the two domains via binding to RBCs as well as the use of helix-specific disulfide cross-linking in studying activity on membranes and liposomes.

The fluorescently labelled CAMP factor residue F138 (i.e., in helix  $\alpha$ 4) was also shown to insert into the both RBCs and liposomes and confirms the idea that the N-terminal domain is the membrane-inserting domain (Figure 2.6A). In the case of CTD, its lone tryptophan residue did not reveal any change in fluorescence when incubated with liposomes which further supports the idea that the CTD is involved in membrane binding (Figure 2.6B). This finding does not negate the possibility that other residues could be participating in membrane insertion. The evidence for this possibility is bolstered by the seemingly random distribution of hydrophobic and hydrophilic residues on the surface of both domains of CAMP factor which suggests that a conformational change may be taking place in both domains during pore formation [67].

#### 2.4.2 NTD Requires Internal Conformational Flexibility for Membrane Permeabilization

Once it was reasonably clear that the NTD was largely responsible for membrane permeabilization, the question arose whether the NTD requires conformational flexibility in order to permeabilize membranes. To answer this question, mobility restriction of specific helices via disulfide bridge engineering was applied to the NTD of CAMP factor [68]. The disulfide mutant, which connects the tops of two helices to that of the first (i.e.,  $\alpha 2$  and  $\alpha 3$  to  $\alpha 1$  or DS1, Figure 2.7A), showed a moderate decrease in haemolytic activity, while its reduced form remained fully active (Figure 2.7C). Additionally, restriction of the midpoints of two helices in the NTD (i.e.,  $\alpha$ 3 and  $\alpha$ 4 or DS2, Figure 2.7A) was also examined. This disulfide-restricted mutant showed significantly reduced activity, while its reduced form was fully active (Figure 2.7C). These results indicate that the NTD does in fact require internal conformational flexibility to permeabilize membranes. Such conformational flexibility is not surprising, considering that a similar behaviour is demonstrated in domain I, the membrane-permeabilizing region, of the *Bacillus thuringiensis* Cry1Aa toxin [68].

#### 2.4.3 No Evidence of Functionally Crucial Mobility in the Linker Region

The insights revealed concerning the two domains made the role of the linker region in pore formation an area of great interest. Thus, the role of the linker region in pore formation was also studied by mobility restriction via disulfide bonds. Mobility restriction between the loop of  $\alpha$ 3 and  $\alpha$ 4 in connection to  $\alpha$ 6 (i.e., DS3, Figure 2.7A), causes no notable decrease in haemolytic activity. This suggests that the unrestricted mobility of the linker region may not be as significant to the modulation of domain activity as the 3D structure suggests. This effect on domain mobility may be limited as conformational changes could occur through helices  $\alpha$ 4 and  $\alpha$ 5 and thus minimize the effect of mobility restriction on haemolytic activity. Whatever the case may be, these results must be confirmed by more extensive work on specific residues in the linker region.

## **Chapter 3**

# The Effects of Target Membrane Lipid Composition on CAMP factor Activity

#### 3.1 Introduction

CAMP factor is a PFT which forms large oligomeric pores on susceptible membranes [22], (i.e., cells or membrane vesicles that can be penetrated by the oligomeric form of the toxin). Pore formation has been demonstrated in both natural and artificial membranes. In both cases, the specific activity of the toxin was affected by membrane lipid composition [22]. Interestingly, CAMP factor activity on cells is increased by the conversion of sphingomyelin to ceramide [71, 22].

In a simple liposome model, the addition of  $C_{12}$ -ceramide did not increase susceptibility to CAMP factor [22]. These experiments did, however, suggest a requirement for cholesterol, whose omission rendered the liposomes (now composed of only  $C_{12}$ -ceramide and phosphatidylcholine) resistant to permeabilization by CAMP factor [22].

Accordingly, the goal of this work was to further examine the role of cholesterol in CAMP factor activity. This was done by the calcein release assay employed in Chapter 2. The results indicate, surprisingly, that cholesterol is not required for CAMP factor activity on membrane vesicles that otherwise consist of glycerophospholipids only [22]. The discrepancy with previous findings is likely due to the difference in the composition of the non-sterol lipids used in the two sets of

experiments. Overall, the previously postulated specific requirement for cholesterol is rejected by the findings presented here.

#### 3.2 Materials and Methods

#### 3.2.1 Materials

In order to prepare the necessary liposomes, 1,2-dimyristoyl-*sn*-glycero-3-phosphocholine (DMPC), and 1,2-dimyristoyl-*sn*-glycero-3-phosphoglycerol (DMPG), 1,2-dioleoyl-*sn*-glycero-3-phosphocholine (DOPC), 1,2-dioleoyl-*sn*-glycero-3-phosphoglycerol (DOPG), 1-palmitoyl-2-oleoyl-*sn*-glycero-3-phosphocholine (POPC), 1-palmitoyl-2-oleoyl-*sn*-glycero-3-phosphoglycerol (POPG), and cholesterol (cholesterol) were purchased from Avanti Polar Lipids (Alabaster, AL). Calcein (Figure 3.2B) was obtained from Sigma-Aldrich<sup>®</sup>, St. Louis, MO.



Figure 3.1: Chemical structures of lipid species used in this study.

#### 3.2.2 Methods

All chemical structures were rendered using ACD/Chemsketch 2015<sup>®</sup>. All data were plotted using GraphPad Prism<sup>®</sup> 7.

Protein expression and purification was performed as previously described [22, 61]. CAMP factor was subjected to the same haemolytic assay described in Chapter 2, section 2.2.2, for the sake of testing toxin activity on a standard model prior to use on liposomes.

The procedures used for preparing the large unilamellar vesicles (LUVs) are described in Chapter 2, section 2.2.3. All incubations involving these liposomes were carried out at 37°C, followed by measurement in a thermostatted cuvette holder at the same temperature.

The extent of membrane permeabilization for each sample P was then calculated using the formula given in Chapter 2, section 2.2.3.

The lipids used for preparing the cholesterol-containing liposomes were prepared at the following molar ratios: 6.5/2.5/1.0 (i.e., DMPC/cholesterol/DMPG), as well as 7.5/2.5 (i.e., DMPC:cholesterol). The mixtures without cholesterol were each prepared at a molar ratio of 7.5/2.5 of the following lipids: DMPC:DMPG, POPC:POPG, and DOPC:DOPG. Other preparations for liposomes included pure POPC and DOPC. Multiple attempts to prepare DMPC-only liposomes were unsuccessful, as these preparations were unstable during the assay period. The unstable nature of calcein-loaded DMPC liposomes is in line with work done by Clary *et al.*, whose work on carboxyfluorescein-loaded DMPC liposomes at the same temperature (i.e., 37°C) and a pH of 7.5 produced liposomes with a half-life of 24 minutes (Figure 3.2A) [72]. Liposomes were treated with CAMP factor dosages ranging from 0.2 µg/mL to 30 µg/mL (Figure 3.3A).

#### 3.3 Results

#### 3.3.1 Permeabilization of liposomes containing dimyristoyl lipids

As stated earlier, attempts to prepare DMPC only liposomes resulted in model membranes that were unstable during the assay period (Figure 3.1). However, stable liposomes were obtained



5(6)-Carboxyfluorescein

**Figure 3.2: Structure of fluorescent dyes commonly used in permeability assays.** Chemical structure of Calcein (A). Chemical structure of 5(6)Carboxyfluorescein (B).

when either or both of cholesterol (25 mol%) and DMPG (10 mol%) were included in the lipid mixture. Surprisingly, all three liposome species showed very similar susceptibility to CAMP factor; cholesterol had at most a minor effect on the dose-effect curve of permeabilization.

The data presented here therefore indicate that cholesterol is not required for CAMP factor to permeabilize liposomes (Figure 3.3B). These results are in stark contrast to previous findings which suggested that cholesterol was important for CAMP factor activity [22].

#### 3.3.2 Permeabilization of liposomes containing palmitoyl/oleoyl lipids

While the experiments described in the previous section used DMPC and DMPG, earlier experiments by Lang and Palmer used egg yolk phosphatidylcholine (EYPC), which consists mostly



**Figure 3.3:** Effect of CAMP factor activity on dimyristoyl lipids in the presence or absence of cholesterol. Liposomes containing DMPC/DMPG, DMPC/Cholesterol, and DMPC/Cholesterol/DMPG were loaded with self-quenching concentrations of calcein. A: Fluores-cence spectra obtained after incubation of CAMP factor with 7.5/2.5 DMPC/DMPG liposomes at various concentrations. LIP + 0.01%TRI is a mixture of calcein-loaded liposomes combined with 0.01% Triton X-100, which acts as the positive control. B: The same experiment plotted using a relative scale for calcein release for each liposome mixture. The error bars represent the standard deviation of calcein release within triplicates of each mixture of toxin and liposomes.

of POPC [22]. The question therefore arose whether the different observations concerning the role of cholesterol were due to differences in phospholipid acyl chain length and/or unsaturation.

In order to assess whether this was the case, POPC and POPG were used instead of DMPC and DMPG. The findings from this work indicate that the four liposome variants (i.e., POPC, POPC/POPG, POPC/cholesterol, and POPC/cholesterol/POPG), were all stable. Their susceptibility to CAMP factor showed little difference to each other and DMPC/DMPG liposomes (Figures 3.4 and 3.3B).



Figure 3.4: Effect of CAMP factor activity on palmitoyl/oleoyl lipids in the presence or absence of cholesterol. The experiment, in like manner to Figure 3.3A, was plotted using a relative scale for calcein release. The error bars represent the standard deviation of calcein release within triplicates of each mixture of toxin and liposomes.

#### 3.3.3 Permeabilization of liposomes containing dioleoyl lipids

The use of dioleoyl lipids in membrane models is widespread for both the study of lipid systems as well as toxin activity [73, 74]. These phospholipids contain acyl chains that are longer and more unsaturated than those previously used to study CAMP factor activity on artificial membranes (Figure 3.1) [22]. Thus, model membranes composed of dioleoyl lipids were used to examine how CAMP factor activity is affected by the presence of cholesterol.

The data from these model membranes show that cholesterol-free dioleoyl liposomes respond to CAMP factor action in a similar manner to both dimyristoyl and palmitoyl/oleoyl liposomes.



**Figure 3.5: Effect of CAMP factor activity on dioleoyl lipids in the presence or absence of choles-terol.** The experiment, in like manner to Figure 3.3A, was plotted using a relative scale for calcein release. The error bars represent the standard deviation of calcein release within triplicates of each mixture of toxin and liposomes.

However, cholesterol-containing dioleoyl lipids, although having a similar onset of permeabilization, have a lower maximal release (Figure 3.5). This is an unusual and unexpected finding; however, these liposomes also fail to substantiate any need of CAMP factor for cholesterol.

#### 3.4 Discussion

The focus of the present study was the effect of membrane lipid composition on CAMP factor activity. All experiments were conducted at the physiological temperature of 37°C where all pure phospholipid membranes are in the fluid (i.e., liquid-disordered) phase [75]. Cholesterol-containing liposomes using the same phospholipids on the other hand, have reduced membrane fluidity (i.e., they are in the liquid-ordered phase) above their transition temperature because of the ordering effect of cholesterol [75].

Overall, the data from the current study show that cholesterol is not required for CAMP activity. Additionally, cholesterol has little effect on CAMP activity on PC and PC/PG membranes. Furthermore, PG, at least a 25% molar ratio, has little or no effect on CAMP activity. The effect of lipid chain length and unsaturation on CAMP factor activity was also tested and the results showed that both these factors have little or no effect when membranes are in the fluid state. Finally, when the effect of membrane fluidity on CAMP factor activity was examined in liquid-disordered and cholesterol-induced liquid-ordered states, the data showed little effect on CAMP factor activity.

In Lang and Palmer's work, model membranes composed of  $C_{12}$ -ceramide, EYPC, and cholesterol were used to study CAMP factor activity [22]. In all cases, either  $C_{12}$ -ceramide and/or cholesterol were present in the liposome mixture. The results of this work suggested that cholesterol was important for CAMP factor activity on membranes [22]. One potential cause for the difference between these two studies is the use of unsaturated phospholipids (i.e., EYPC) in the former study, but this was ruled out by the use of very similar lipids (i.e., POPC and POPG) in assessing CAMP factor activity.

Thus, the only remaining difference was the use of  $C_{12}$ -ceramide in Lang and Palmer's study. Since ceramide promotes pore formation activity in cell membranes [22], a possible inhibitory role was never considered. Surprising as it may seem, the only remaining explanation is that  $C_{12}$ -ceramide actually inhibits CAMP factor activity in simple phospholipid membranes. This may explain why Lang and Palmer observed a slightly higher CAMP activity on PC/Cholesterol liposomes than those with a ternary mixture of PC/Cholesterol/Ceramide [22].

Taken together, the results from the work of Lang and Palmer and the current study produce the following observations compiled in Table 3.1. Each row in the table shows the presence or absence of a specific liposome component and its resulting effect on CAMP factor's ability to permeabilize the model membrane.

EYPC or POPC	C <sub>12</sub> -Ceramide	Cholesterol	Permeabilization
+	-	-	+
+	-	+	+
+	+	-	-
+	+	+	+

 Table 3.1: CAMP Activity on Artificial Membranes

Overall, the compiled data suggest that  $C_{12}$ -ceramide inhibits CAMP factor, and that cholesterol relieves this inhibition.

The neutralizing effect of cholesterol on ceramide-containing liposomes may be a result of the known tight interaction of cholesterol with sphingolipids [76, 77]. It is well-established that

cholesterol has an ordering and condensing property that allows for close packing of saturated acyl chains of sphingolipids (as well as phospholipids) by its smooth faces subsequently forming lipid rafts [76, 78]. Interestingly, it is also well-known that cholesterol associates weakly with highly unsaturated lipid species [77]. In cellular membranes, these lipid rafts are specialized membrane domains containing high concentrations of cholesterol, sphingomyelin, gangliosides, and proteins. Additionally, lipid rafts are also enriched in phospholipids that contain saturated fatty acyl chains [76, 75]. As a result of these liquid-ordered membrane domains, there is also lateral phase separation in the lipid bilayer which generates portions of the lipid bilayer that are not as ordered (i.e., liquid-disordered) [76, 78, 75]. This lateral phase separation may occur in cholesterol/ceramide-containing model membranes by cholesterol sequestering ceramide and thereby causing the remainder of membrane to be liquid-disordered and thus allowing pore formation to take place in these regions in the membrane [77].

It is noteworthy that there is little difference in CAMP factor activity on the various phospholipid compositions with the sole exception of cholesterol-containing dioleoyl liposomes incubated with higher CAMP factor concentrations (Figure 3.5). Though these dioleoyl liposomes have similar onset of permeabilization to dimyristoyl and palmitoyl/oleoyl ones, their maximal release is about half of what is expected. Thus far, such a phenomenon has no precedent as it concerns CAMP factor (or any other PFT for that matter).

One possible explanation for the reduced release of calcein from cholesterol-dioleoyl liposomes by CAMP factor pore formation may be that during the initial vortexing stage, lipid segregation occurs in the multilamellar vesicles such that some liposomes end up with plenty of cholesterol in the bilayer and others with very little. This subsequently gives rise to two different large unilamellar vesicle populations after extrusion and gel filtration resulting in one group with low cholesterol and the other high. Upon treatment of this mixture with CAMP factor perhaps the low-cholesterol vesicles are susceptible to pore formation due to their lower propensity for lipid raft formation [76, 77]. Currently, there is not enough evidence to prove such a theory. Thus, more work using dioleoyl lipids in combination with varying concentrations of cholesterol is needed in order to elucidate the cause of this reduced permeabilization of cholesterol-dioleoyl membranes.

## **Chapter 4**

# **Summary and Future Work**

#### 4.1 Summary

#### 4.1.1 Functional Roles of N- and C-terminal Domains of CAMP factor

CAMP factor was recently shown to have a novel structural fold composed of two distinct domains composed of a 5+3 helix bundle connected by a linker region (submitted manuscript). The work in Chapter 2 was thus performed based on the structural insights gained from the 3D crystal structure of the CAMP factor monomer solved by Dr. Tengchuan Jin (Figure 1.6). These insights were gained from sequence/structure-based analyses which did not immediately reveal a clear structure-function relationship.

The absence of a clear structure-function relationship necessitated the use of haemolytic assays and membrane permeabilization experiments using WT, the two distinct domain fragments (i.e., NTD and CTD), disulfide mutants (linker and NTD region), and a fluorescently labelled cysteine mutant on RBCs and liposomes as a method for studying the mode of action of CAMP factor. The data from this study showed that NTD permeabilizes both membrane systems while CTD permeabilizes neither, suggesting that membrane-damaging activity resides predominantly in the NTD. This view is supported by the membrane insertion of the NBD-labelled cysteine mutant F138C (Figures 2.2 and 2.6A). Additionally, NTD activity was shown to be approximately 10<sup>4</sup> times lower than that of WT on RBCs while on liposomes activity is only about 15 times lower; thus, the removal of CTD has a greater impact on RBCs than liposomes suggesting that CTD mediates specific binding to GPI anchors (Figures 2.3 and 2.5).

However, CTD was also shown to inhibit both NTD and WT permeabilization on RBCs and liposomes (Figure 2.5). These data suggest that CTD does more than simply bind to GPI anchors. This is because if the role of CTD were limited to binding GPI anchors, then it should not affect NTD on red blood cells (or only so if NTD still binds to GPI anchors). Furthermore, since liposomes have no GPI anchors or other specific receptors, CTD should not inhibit NTD or WT toxin on liposomes. Thus, the observations indicate that CTD interferes with steps other than binding and likely participates in oligomerization.

The verified full length disulfide mutants (i.e., DS1 and DS2 which connect the tops of two and mid points of two other helices in the NTD respectively) were prepared by Dr. Jin for studying internal conformational flexibility in the NTD. The two disulfide mutants exhibit moderate and severe haemolytic activity, respectively, in comparison to the WT (Figure 2.7A). These results indicate that the NTD does in fact require intra-domain conformational flexibility in order to permeabilize membranes. In the case of the verified full length disulfide mutant DS3, prepared by Dr. Jin for studying the linker region (Figures 1.6 and 2.7A), little to no effect on haemolytic activity is observed. This suggests a limited effect on inter-domain mobility; this limited effect is not sufficient evidence that the linker region is not important in inter-domain mobility and pore formation. Thus, a more detailed study into this matter is necessary.

#### 4.1.2 Further Studies on the Functional Roles of CAMP factor Domains

Further research into the functional roles of the N- and C-terminal domains of CAMP factor will require strategic placement of more disulfide mutations using cysteine-scanning mutagenesis. These mutations will be made for the purpose of studying conformational restraint between the helices of the two domains as well as the extent of membrane permeabilization on both natural and artificial membranes. This aforementioned principle can be applied to a study of the linker region to study inter-domain conformational flexibility of CAMP factor.

#### 4.1.3 Effect of Target Membrane Composition on CAMP factor Activity

Based on previous work by Lang and Palmer [22], CAMP factor's activity was shown to be affected by target membrane composition; specifically, the data indicated that cholesterol was required as cholesterol-free liposomes were insensitive to CAMP activity. However, these cholesterol-free liposomes were only tested when ceramide was present. Thus, the purpose of Chapter 3 was to further examine the role of cholesterol on CAMP factor activity. This was done not only with the omission of ceramide, but with the additional intent of examining the effect of lipid chain length and degree of unsaturation.

The calcein release assay was used as the technique of choice and experiments were thus performed using LUVs composed of dimyristoyl, palmitoyl/oleoyl, and dioleoyl phospholipids in the presence or absence of cholesterol (Figures 3.3, 3.4, and 3.5). The data showed that in the presence or absence of cholesterol there is little difference in CAMP factor activity on membranes. Furthermore, lipid acyl chain length and unsaturation have little or no effect on CAMP factor activity when the lipid bilayer is in the fluid phase. It was also found that membrane fluidity, or at least the difference between the liquid-disordered and the cholesterol-induced liquid-ordered state, has little effect on CAMP factor activity. These findings are in contrast to Lang and Palmer's studies, which suggested that cholesterol was a requirement for pore formation by CAMP factor. However, as noted earlier,  $C_{12}$ -ceramide was always present in the liposome mixtures used to assess CAMP factor activity.

Interestingly, when the aforementioned studies are collectively considered, the overall evidence suggest that  $C_{12}$ -ceramide inhibits CAMP factor activity in the membrane bilayer while cholesterol relieves this inhibition (Table 3.1).

#### 4.1.4 Further Studies on the Effect of Target Membrane on CAMP factor Activity

Future work expanding on Chapter 3 should include further studies on how ceramide inhibits CAMP factor on model membranes but activates it on natural cell membranes. One way to do this is to strip the GPI anchors and other carbohydrates from the membranes, and then see whether the effect of ceramide persists.

# **Bibliography**

- K. Cosentino, U. Ros, and A. J. Garcia-Saez. "Assembling the puzzle: Oligomerization of alpha-pore forming proteins in membranes". In: *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1858.3 (2016), pp. 457–466. ISSN: 0006-3002 (Print) 0006-3002 (Linking). URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26375417.
- M. Dal Peraro and F. G. van der Goot. "Pore-forming toxins: ancient, but never really out of fashion". In: *Nat Rev Microbiol* 14.2 (2016), pp. 77–92. ISSN: 1740-1534 (Electronic) 1740-1526 (Linking). URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26639780.
- [3] U. Ros and A. J. Garcia-Saez. "More Than a Pore: The Interplay of Pore-Forming Proteins and Lipid Membranes". In: *J Membr Biol* 248.3 (2015), pp. 545–61. ISSN: 1432-1424 (Electronic) 0022-2631 (Linking). URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/ 26087906.
- [4] I. Iacovache, M. Bischofberger, and F. G. van der Goot. "Structure and assembly of pore-forming proteins". In: *Curr Opin Struct Biol* 20.2 (2010), pp. 241–6. ISSN: 1879-033X (Electronic) 0959-440X (Linking). URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20172710.
- [5] Margaret M Gedde et al. "Role of Listeriolysin O in Cell-to-Cell Spread ofListeria monocytogenes". In: *Infection and immunity* 68.2 (2000), pp. 999–1003.
- [6] Proteins: Membrane Binding and Pore Formation. Vol. 677. Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology. Austin, Texas USA: Landes Bioscience/Springer Science+Business Media, 2010, p. 172.

- [7] Joseph E. Alouf. "Pore-Forming Bacterial Protein Toxins: An Overview". In: *Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology*. Ed. by F. Gisou van der Goot. 1st. Berlin, Germany: Springer-Verlag, 2001, pp. 1–14.
- [8] Xiaopeng Zhang, Xiaomei Hu, and Xiancai Rao. "Apoptosis induced by Staphylococcus aureus toxins". In: *Microbiological research* 205 (2017), pp. 19–24.
- [9] E. Cascales et al. "Colicin biology". In: *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev* 71.1 (2007), pp. 158–229.
   ISSN: 1092-2172 (Print) 1092-2172 (Linking). URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.
   gov/pubmed/17347522.
- [10] J. H. Lakey and S. L. Slatin. "Pore-Forming Colicins and Their Relatives". In: *Pore-Forming Toxins*. Ed. by F. G. van der Goot. 1st. Berlin, Germany: Springer-Verlag, 2001, pp. 131–161.
- [11] P. Elkins et al. "A mechanism for toxin insertion into membranes is suggested by the crystal structure of the channel-forming domain of colicin E1". In: *Structure* 5.3 (1997), pp. 443–458. ISSN: 0969-2126. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0969212697002001.
- [12] Grigorios Papadakos, Justyna A Wojdyla, and Colin Kleanthous. "Nuclease colicins and their immunity proteins". In: *Quarterly Reviews of Biophysics* 45.1 (2012), pp. 57–103.
- [13] J. C. Sharpe and E. London. "Diphtheria Toxin Forms Pores of Different Sizes Depending on Its Concentration in Membranes: Probable Relationship to Oligomerization". In: *Journal* of Membrane Biology 171.3 (1999), pp. 209–221.
- [14] C. Wolff et al. "Characterization of diphtheria toxin's catalytic domain interaction with lipid membranes". In: *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1661.2 (2004), pp. 166–77. ISSN: 0006-3002 (Print) 0006-3002 (Linking). URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15003879.
- [15] S. Choe et al. "The crystal structure of diphtheria toxin". In: Nature 357.6375 (1992), pp. 216–22. ISSN: 0028-0836 (Print) 0028-0836 (Linking). URL: https://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1589020.

- [16] Langzhou Song et al. "Structure of staphylococcal  $\alpha$ -hemolysin, a heptameric transmembrane pore". In: *Science* 274.5294 (1996), pp. 1859–1865.
- [17] R. Christie, N. E. Atkins, and E. Munch-Petersen. "A Note on a Lytic Phenomenon Shown by Group B Streptcocci". In: *Australian Journal of Experimental Biology and Medical Science* 22 (1944), pp. 197–200.
- [18] James M Murphy, O M Stuart, and F Reed. "An evaluation of the CAMP test for the identification of Streptococcus agalactiae in routine mastitis testing." In: *The Cornell eterinarian* 42.1 (1952), p. 133.
- [19] H Esseveld et al. "Some observations about the camp reaction and its application to human  $\beta$  haemolytic streptococci". In: *Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek* 24.1 (1958), pp. 145–156.
- [20] J. Brown et al. "CAMP factor of group B streptococci: production, assay, and neutralization by sera from immunized rabbits and experimentally infected cows". In: *Infect Immun* 9.2 (1974), pp. 377–83. ISSN: 0019-9567 (Print) 0019-9567 (Linking). URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/4816463.
- [21] Alan W Bernheimer. "Some aspects of the history of membrane-damaging toxins". In: *Med*-*ical microbiology and immunology* 185.2 (1996), pp. 59–63.
- [22] S. Lang and M. Palmer. "Characterization of Streptococcus agalactiae CAMP factor as a pore-forming toxin". In: J Biol Chem 278.40 (2003), pp. 38167–73. ISSN: 0021-9258 (Print) 0021-9258 (Linking). URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/ 12835325.
- [23] K. C. Crasta et al. "Identification and characterization of CAMP cohemolysin as a potential virulence factor of Riemerella anatipestifer". In: *Journal of Bacteriology* 184.7 (2002), pp. 1932–1939. ISSN: 0021-9193. URL: http://jb.asm.org/content/184/7/1932.short.
- [24] P. Ways and D. J. Hanahan. "Characterization and quantification of red cell lipids in normal man". In: *J Lipid Res* 5.3 (1964), pp. 318–28. ISSN: 0022-2275 (Print) 0022-2275 (Linking). URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/5873368.

- [25] K. Gase et al. "Identification, cloning, and expression of the CAMP factor gene (cfa) of group A streptococci". In: *Infect Immun* 67.9 (1999), pp. 4725–31. ISSN: 0019-9567 (Print) 0019-9567 (Linking). URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/ 10456923.
- [26] S. Bhakdi and J. Tranum-Jensen. "Complement activation and attack on autologous cell membranes induced by streptolysin-O". In: *Infect Immun* 48.3 (1985), pp. 713–9. ISSN: 0019-9567 (Print) 0019-9567 (Linking). URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/3997244.
- [27] H. Sauer et al. "Complement pore genesis observed in erythrocyte membranes by fluorescence microscopic single-channel recording". In: *Biochem J* 276 ( Pt 2) (1991), pp. 395–9.
   ISSN: 0264-6021 (Print) 0264-6021 (Linking). URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/2049070.
- [28] Shanshan Liu. "Identification of a membrane-spanning domain of *Streptococcus agalactiae* CAMP factor by Cysteine Scanning Mutagenesis". MA thesis. 2005.
- [29] M. Cserzo et al. "On filtering false positive transmembrane protein predictions". In: Protein Eng 15.9 (2002), pp. 745–52. ISSN: 0269-2139 (Print) 0269-2139 (Linking). URL: https: //www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12456873.
- [30] David Donkor. "Membrane Interactions of *Streptococcus agalactiae* CAMP factor". MA thesis. University of Waterloo, 2007.
- [31] Shenhui Lang et al. "Streptococcus agalactiae CAMP factor binds to GPI-anchored proteins". In: Medical Microbiology and Immunology 196.1 (2007), pp. 1–10. ISSN: 1432-1831.
   URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00430-006-0021-2.
- [32] K. L. Nelson, S. M. Raja, and J. T. Buckley. "The glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored surface glycoprotein Thy-1 is a receptor for the channel-forming toxin aerolysin". In: *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 272.18 (1997), pp. 12170–12174. ISSN: 0021-9258. URL: http: //www.jbc.org/content/272/18/12170.short.

- [33] D. B. Diep et al. "Glycosylphosphatidylinositol anchors of membrane glycoproteins are binding determinants for the channel-forming toxin aerolysin". In: *J Biol Chem* 273.4 (1998), pp. 2355–60. ISSN: 0021-9258 (Print) 0021-9258 (Linking). URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9442081.
- [34] José Luis Millián. *Mammalian Alkaline Phosphatases*. Darmstadt, Germany: WILEY-VCH Verlag GmbH and Co. KGaA, Weinheim, 2006, p. 322.
- [35] L. Holm and P. Rosenstrom. "Dali server: conservation mapping in 3D". In: Nucleic Acids Res 38.Web Server issue (2010), W545-9. ISSN: 1362-4962 (Electronic) 0305-1048 (Linking). URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20457744.
- [36] E. Krissinel. "On the relationship between sequence and structure similarities in proteomics".
   In: *Bioinformatics* 23.6 (2007), pp. 717–23. ISSN: 1367-4811 (Electronic) 1367-4803 (Linking). URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17242029.
- [37] J. F. Gibrat, T. Madej, and S. H. Bryant. "Surprising similarities in structure comparison".
  In: *Curr Opin Struct Biol* 6.3 (1996), pp. 377–85. ISSN: 0959-440X (Print) 0959-440X (Linking). URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8804824.
- [38] A. Andreeva et al. "SCOP2 prototype: a new approach to protein structure mining". In: Nucleic Acids Res 42.Database issue (2014), pp. D310–4. ISSN: 1362-4962 (Electronic) 0305-1048 (Linking). URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24293656.
- [39] I. Sillitoe et al. "CATH: comprehensive structural and functional annotations for genome sequences". In: *Nucleic Acids Res* 43.Database issue (2015), pp. D376–81. ISSN: 1362-4962 (Electronic) 0305-1048 (Linking). URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25348408.
- [40] A. Andreeva et al. "Data growth and its impact on the SCOP database: new developments".
   In: Nucleic Acids Res 36.Database issue (2008), pp. D419–25. ISSN: 1362-4962 (Electronic) 0305-1048 (Linking). URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18000004.
- [41] Kyte J. Doolittle R. F. "A simple method for displaying the hydropathic character of a protein." In: *Journal of Molecular Biology* 157 (1982), pp. 105–132.

- [42] K. Kachel et al. "Identifying transmembrane states and defining the membrane insertion boundaries of hydrophobic helices in membrane-inserted diphtheria toxin T domain". In: *J Biol Chem* 273.36 (1998), pp. 22950–6. ISSN: 0021-9258 (Print) 0021-9258 (Linking). URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9722516.
- [43] J. Ren et al. "Membrane translocation of charged residues at the tips of hydrophobic helices in the T domain of diphtheria toxin". In: *Biochemistry* 38.3 (1999), pp. 976–84. ISSN: 0006-2960 (Print) 0006-2960 (Linking). URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9893993.
- [44] P. K. Kienker et al. "Transmembrane insertion of the colicin Ia hydrophobic hairpin". In: J Membr Biol 157.1 (1997), pp. 27–37. ISSN: 0022-2631 (Print) 0022-2631 (Linking). URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9141356.
- [45] A. Roy, A. Kucukural, and Y. Zhang. "I-TASSER: a unified platform for automated protein structure and function prediction". In: *Nat Protoc* 5.4 (2010), pp. 725–38. ISSN: 1750-2799 (Electronic) 1750-2799 (Linking). URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20360767.
- [46] X. Wu et al. "Synthesis and biological evaluation of sperm CD52 GPI anchor and related derivatives as binding receptors of pore-forming CAMP factor". In: *Carbohydr Res* 343.10-11 (2008), pp. 1718–29. ISSN: 0008-6215 (Print) 0008-6215 (Linking). URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18439573.
- [47] A. Malik et al. "PROCARB: A Database of Known and Modelled Carbohydrate-Binding Protein Structures with Sequence-Based Prediction Tools". In: *Adv Bioinformatics* 2010 (2010), p. 436036. ISSN: 1687-8035 (Electronic) 1687-8027 (Linking). URL: https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20671979.
- [48] A. C. Doxey et al. "Structural motif screening reveals a novel, conserved carbohydrate-binding surface in the pathogenesis-related protein PR-5d". In: *BMC Struct Biol* 10 (2010), p. 23. ISSN: 1472-6807 (Electronic) 1472-6807 (Linking). URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20678238.

- [49] A. Schuchat. "Group B streptococcal disease: from trials and tribulations to triumph and trepidation". In: *Clin Infect Dis* 33.6 (2001), pp. 751–6. ISSN: 1058-4838 (Print) 1058-4838 (Linking). URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11512078.
- [50] J. R. Verani et al. "Prevention of perinatal group B streptococcal disease-revised guide-lines from CDC, 2010". In: *MMWR Recomm Rep* 59.RR-10 (2010), pp. 1–36. ISSN: 1545-8601 (Electronic) 1057-5987 (Linking). URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21088663.
- [51] G. P. Keefe. "Streptococcus agalactiae mastitis: a review". In: Canadian Veterinary Journal 38 (1997), pp. 429–437.
- [52] G.F. Mian et al. "Aspects of the natural history and virulence of S. agalactiae infection in Nile tilapia". In: Veterinary Microbiology 136.1 (2009), pp. 180 –183. ISSN: 0378-1135.
   URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378113508004926.
- [53] B. R. Shome et al. "Molecular characterization of *Streptococcus agalactiae* and *Streptococcus uberis* isolates from bovine milk". In: *Trop Anim Health Prod* 44.8 (2012), pp. 1981–92.
  ISSN: 1573-7438 (Electronic) 0049-4747 (Linking). URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22588571.
- [54] J. Yin et al. "Labeling proteins with small molecules by site-specific posttranslational modification". In: JAm Chem Soc 126.25 (2004), pp. 7754–5. ISSN: 0002-7863 (Print) 0002-7863 (Linking). URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15212504.
- [55] C. Freidel, S. Kaloyanova, and K. Peneva. "Chemical tags for site-specific fluorescent labeling of biomolecules". In: *Amino Acids* 48.6 (2016), pp. 1357–72. ISSN: 1438-2199 (Electronic) 0939-4451 (Linking). URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/ 26969255.
- [56] Roger L. Lundblad. *Chemical Reagents for Protein Modification*. 3rd. Boca Raton, Florida: CRC Press, 2004.
- [57] Principles of Fluorescence Spectroscopy. 3rd. New York, New York: Springer US, 2006, p. 961.

- [58] Sonny S. Mark, ed. *Bioconjugation Protocols: Strategies and Methods*. 2nd. Vol. 751. Methods in Molecular Biology. New York: Humana Press, 2011, p. 602.
- [59] Roger L. Lundblad. *Techniques in Protein Modification*. Boca Raton, Florida: CRC Press Inc., 1995, p. 288.
- [60] S. Howorka and H. Bayley. "Improved protocol for high-throughput cysteine scanning mutagenesis". In: *Biotechniques* 25.5 (1998), 764–6, 768, 770 passim. ISSN: 0736-6205 (Print) 0736-6205 (Linking). URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9821575.
- [61] T. Jin et al. "The structure of the CARD8 caspase-recruitment domain suggests its association with the FIIND domain and procaspases through adjacent surfaces". In: Acta Crystallogr Sect F Struct Biol Cryst Commun 69.Pt 5 (2013), pp. 482–7. ISSN: 1744-3091 (Electronic) 1744-3091 (Linking). URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/ 23695559.
- [62] Marion M. Bradford. "A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding". In: *Analytical Biochemistry* 72.1 (1976), pp. 248 –254. ISSN: 0003-2697. URL: http://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/0003269776905273.
- [63] S. Lang et al. "Dual-targeted labeling of proteins using cysteine and selenomethionine residues". In: Anal Biochem 342.2 (2005), pp. 271-9. ISSN: 0003-2697 (Print) 0003-2697 (Linking). URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15950913.
- [64] S. C. Gill and P. H. von Hippel. "Calculation of protein extinction coefficients from amino acid sequence data". In: *Anal Biochem* 182.2 (1989), pp. 319–26. ISSN: 0003-2697 (Print) 0003-2697 (Linking). URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2610349.
- [65] F. E. Robles, S. Chowdhury, and A. Wax. "Assessing hemoglobin concentration using spectroscopic optical coherence tomography for feasibility of tissue diagnostics". In: *Biomed Opt Express* 1.1 (2010), pp. 310–317. ISSN: 2156-7085 (Print) 2156-7085 (Linking). URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21258468.

- [66] Y. E. Kim et al. "Monitoring apoptosis and neuronal degeneration by real-time detection of phosphatidylserine externalization using a polarity-sensitive indicator of viability and apoptosis". In: *Nat Protoc* 5.8 (2010), pp. 1396–405. ISSN: 1750-2799 (Electronic) 1750-2799 (Linking). URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20671723.
- [67] L. A. Shepard et al. "Identification of a membrane-spanning domain of the thiol-activated pore-forming toxin*Clostridium perfringens* perfringolysin O: an alpha-helical to beta-sheet transition identified by fluorescence spectroscopy". In: *Biochemistry* 37.41 (1998), pp. 14563–74. ISSN: 0006-2960 (Print) 0006-2960 (Linking). URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9772185.
- [68] Jean-Louis Schwartz et al. "Restriction of intramolecular movements within the Cry1Aa toxin molecule of *Bacillus thuringiensis* through disulfide bond engineering". In: *FEBS Letters* 410.2-3 (June 1997), pp. 397–402. ISSN: 1873-3468. URL: http://doi.org/10.1016/S0014-5793(97)00626-1.
- [69] R. K. Tweten, R. W. Harris, and P. J. Sims. "Isolation of a tryptic fragment from *Clostridium perfringens* theta-toxin that contains sites for membrane binding and self-aggregation." In: *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 266.19 (1991), pp. 12449–12454. URL: http://www.jbc.org/content/266/19/12449.abstract.
- [70] Silvia Weis and Michael Palmer. "Streptolysin O: the C-terminal, tryptophan-rich domain carries functional sites for both membrane binding and self-interaction but not for stable oligomerization". In: *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Biomembranes* 1510.1–2 (2001), pp. 292 –299. ISSN: 0005-2736. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0005273600003606.
- [71] A. W. Bernheimer, R. Linder, and L. S. Avigad. "Nature and mechanism of action of the CAMP protein of group B streptococci". In: *Infect Immun* 23.3 (1979), pp. 838–44. ISSN: 0019-9567 (Print) 0019-9567 (Linking). URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/378839.
- [72] L. Clary et al. "Membrane permeability and stability of liposomes made from highly fluorinated double-chain phosphocholines derived from diaminopropanol, serine or ethanolamine".
   In: *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Biomembranes* 1328.1 (1997), pp. 55 –64. ISSN:

0005-2736. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ pii/S000527369700076X.

- [73] Gerrit Van Meer, Dennis R Voelker, and Gerald W Feigenson. "Membrane lipids: where they are and how they behave". In: *Nature reviews Molecular cell biology* 9.2 (2008), pp. 112–124.
- [74] Nejc Rojko and Gregor Anderluh. "How Lipid Membranes Affect Pore Forming Toxin Activity". In: Accounts of Chemical Research 48.12 (2015), pp. 3073–3079.
- [75] M. Luckey. *Membrane Structural Biology*. 2nd ed. Cambridge University Press, 2014.
- [76] Linda J. Pike. "Lipid rafts: bringing order to chaos". In: *Journal of Lipid Research* 44 (2003), pp. 655–667.
- [77] John R Silvius. "Role of cholesterol in lipid raft formation: lessons from lipid model systems". In: *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Biomembranes* 1610.2 (2003), pp. 174–183.
- [78] Tomasz Róg et al. "Ordering effects of cholesterol and its analogues". In: *Biochimica et Bio-physica Acta (BBA) Biomembranes* 1788.1 (2009), pp. 97 –121. ISSN: 0005-2736. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0005273608002721.